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     no undertakings were filed in this proceeding

Friday, February 3, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:38 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Please be seated.

Good morning.  The Board is sitting today to hear an application by Union Gas seeking approval of its 2012-2014 demand side management plan, which has File No. EB-2011-0327.

My name is Cathy Spoel, and sitting with me today are the Board's vice chair, Cynthia Chaplin, and Paula Conboy.

The purpose of today's proceeding is to review the settlement agreement entered into between Union and many of the parties to this proceeding.  The way we propose to proceed, subject to comments that parties may have, is, first of all, to have Union present the settlement agreement.  Then any parties who are opposed to our acceptance of the settlement agreement will have an opportunity to make submissions to that effect, with appropriate reply from Union and other parties who may support the settlement agreement.

Then we propose to make a decision as to whether or not to accept the settlement agreement.  If we decide not to accept the settlement agreement, then we will move to February 13th, when we will hear evidence on the demand side management plan.  If we accept it, then that's done.

Either way, we would like to hear the two -- the two issues that are not settled at all, the inflation and the incentive mechanisms and the demand side management guidelines.  Those are severable and can be dealt with today, and that way, since the same issue arose with the incentive payments in the Enbridge hearing yesterday, then we can get on with issuing a decision in the Enbridge matter, as well, since that issue is being held over until we hear argument today.

Before we proceed further with sort of how we're proceeding today, maybe I could just get appearances, and then we can hear from any parties about the procedure.

MR. SMITH:  Good morning, members of the Board.  Crawford Smith on behalf of Union Gas.  With me are, to my right, Mark Kitchen from Union Gas, and Keith Boulton, who is the director of energy conservation strategy at Union Gas.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair and members of the Panel.  Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe.

MR. POCH:  Good morning, Panel.  David Poch for GEC.

MR. DeROSE:  Good morning.  Vince DeRose on behalf of CME.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Jay Shepherd on behalf of the School Energy Coalition.  I'd like to put in an appearance, as well, for the Consumers Council of Canada, Mr. Warren and Ms. Girvan.

MR. GARDNER:  Good morning, Panel, Matt Gardner for LIEN.

MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Good morning.  John Beauchamp on behalf of APPrO.

MR. MONDROW:  Same button as yesterday, sorry, Madam Chair.  Ian Mondrow for IGUA.

MR. MacINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair, members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I'm joined by Josh Wasylyk.

Preliminary Matters


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Well, before we start, are there any preliminary matters that any of the parties wish to raise, given the outline that we've suggested for today's proceedings?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, Pollution Probe has some concerns that I'd like to raise regarding the settlement agreement that go to the overall non-severable nature of the package, and we'll respectfully object to it being accepted in that form.

And I don't know whether it's appropriate for me to make those submissions before the substance of the agreement is presented, or to wait for Mr. Smith to make his presentation.  And I don't know what Mr. Smith or other parties may think or the Board may think, but I just raise that as a possibility, because it's procedural and quite separate from the substance of the agreement.

MR. SMITH:  I'm happy to proceed.  As I understand my friend's argument, I'm happy to address it at the outset.  He can respond to it, and I'll have a brief right of reply.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, I think we should proceed with -- since it's Union's -- Union is the applicant, I think we should allow Union to proceed first to present the agreement, which is the subject of today's proceeding.

Is there anything else before we --


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, if I could, and I certainly will override either the preference of either of my friends or your determination, but, from my perspective, it would certainly be helpful early enough that I would have time to respond to understand the prayer for relief that Pollution Probe is seeking in respect of the settlement agreement and this issue of severability and partial agreement.

There was a brief note circulated yesterday by counsel, but it's not clear, to me at least, from that note what relief Pollution Probe may be seeking from the Panel.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, perhaps what we can do is if parties require a short break after Mr. Klippenstein has made his presentation, we can take a short break so that you can formulate a response at the time.

So let's cross that bridge when we get to it.

MR. MONDROW:  That's fine.  I just didn't want to have to be placed to speak in favour of the settlement, because we're a party it to, and then have Mr. Klippenstein speak, and then not have opportunity to respond to that.

So the Panel is sensitive to that.  We'll see how it goes.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.  I think we have enough flexibility in our procedure that we can accommodate new issues that might arise, which doesn't mean we need to necessarily hear from everybody, but we will certainly accommodate reasonable response to anything that Mr. Klippenstein puts forward.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  So Mr. Smith.
UNION GAS - PANEL 1

Presentation of Settlement Agreement by Mr. Smith


MR. SMITH:  Good morning.  Thank you very much.  As noted at the outset, the purpose of today is to review the settlement agreement filed by Union Gas dated January 31, 2012 in respect of its 2012-2014 DSM plan.

And before going into the features of the plan, I thought it was worth making a few observations about the process leading up to the agreement, which is noted in the first couple of pages of the agreement.

As the Board may have noted, a little bit unlike the agreement that the Board considered yesterday, the agreement that's before you today was reached following the application and evidence had been filed by Union, and after interrogatories had been served by intervenors and answered by Union.

So there had been an opportunity for discovery in respect of Union's application before the parties sat down.  As the Board will be aware, in December the Board convened, by procedural order, a two-day settlement conference, which was facilitated by Mr. Rosenberg.  That took place.

Following the conclusion of the two days, the parties agreed that enough progress had been made that they would reconvene, and that took place on January 9th.  And on behalf of Union, and I believe the intervenors, I wanted to thank the Board for making the Board's space available, because what ended up happening, as matters turned out, from January 9th through the 27th, the parties sat almost on a daily basis and hammered out what ultimately became this settlement agreement.

And you will see from the second page that there were quite a number of parties who actively participated.  And as you noted at the outside -- sorry, at the outset, it is a settlement, with the exception of a few issues, which is a complete settlement.

So although Mr. Klippenstein's client intends to raise some issues, there are many issues on which the parties actually have a complete agreement.  So it's partially settled in respect of some issues, and I'll come to those, but it is a complete settlement in respect of many of the issues.

I'd also make the observation that -- perhaps it goes without saying, but the parties who did participate, it's a broad range from low-income customer groups, residential customers, industrial customers, commercial customers, and then parties such as the Green Energy Coalition, who have perhaps a different focus, more of an environmental focus.  But they were all at the table.

Many of the people who were actively engaged in the negotiations have sat on evaluation and audit committees for Union and/or Enbridge for some period of time, and so we're talking about a relatively sophisticated discussion group, at least as it relates to DSM.

Before diving into the agreement itself, I just wanted to draw the Board's attention to what I think is, at least in my experience, something of a unique feature of the agreement, at least as it's presented.

Following the agreement in appendix A is a collection of materials which are referred to as Union responses to intervenor information requests and presentations provided during the settlement conference.

Now, typically or traditionally, materials provided during a settlement conference would be subject to settlement privilege and would not be admissible.

In this instance, the parties agreed, and I think it was a good decision, to make these materials available and have attached them to the agreement.  Now, they are not the back and forth between the parties.  They are not settlement offers and responses.  But what they are is factual information.

And there's a lot of factual information.  And I think it's important to make a couple of observations about it.

What this reflects, in my submission, first of all, is an attempt by the parties to really get to a common factual understanding.  And in the DSM framework, it can be very challenging.  Even though this was done after interrogatories, it was obvious the parties had a number of questions.  And I think it's to everyone's credit that they worked through these matters, through these factual matters, before negotiating and had a common factual groundwork.

The second is it provides further information for the Board on which to base its decision, because, obviously, when parties come forward with a settlement agreement, there's a deviation from the applicant's prefiled evidence, very often, and this is further information on which the Board can take comfort, at least from an evidentiary perspective, that the decision and the settlement agreement is in the public interest.

So I direct your attention to that.

The second item I would draw your attention to follows appendix A.  It's appendix B.  You heard about it yesterday from Mr. O'Leary.  I don't propose to go over it, but what you have there are the joint terms of reference which were hammered out by Union, Enbridge, and intervenors back in the fall of 2011, and were filed on or around November 10th, I believe, by Union.

And obviously they form an important part of this agreement.  They are a framework for how both the technical and evaluation committee and the evaluation and audit process should work going forward, and obviously they are consistent with the guidelines, which speak about meaningful consultation on a going-forward basis.

So with that by way of background, perhaps it's appropriate to take a look at the settlement agreement itself, beginning at page 7.  And I don't propose to review it line by line.  I just want to make -- unless you would like me to, but I doubt very much that that's the case.

By way of overarching comment, the one thing I would say is that this is a three-year deal, with the exception of the T1/Rate 100 scorecard, which I'll come to in a minute, but with that limited exception, this is, in my submission, squarely within what was contemplated by the Board, bearing in mind that we have just come out of what started as a three-year generic DSM framework, which was subsequently extended by several years.

In my submission, the Board can take a good deal of comfort that the parties have been able to negotiate a framework which will be in place for an extended period of time.

So what is set out at item number 2 is a budget for the 2012, 2013 and 2014 years.  You will see that in table 1, broken down by various scorecards: resource acquisition, large industrial, T1/Rate 100, low-income, and market transformation.

Now, there's two items I should probably draw your attention to in respect of the budget.  The budget for Union for 2011 is set out in the guidelines in the $27 million range.  The budget that's reflected in the agreement is the 2011 budget adjusted for inflation to 2012, which is one of the unsettled issues that we'll come to later on.  In addition, it's been adjusted by 10 percent on account of the flexibility contemplated in the agreement in relation to low-income.

And there is a mechanism in the settlement agreement, in the event the Board determines that the guidelines do not call for an adjustment of the 2011 numbers by inflation for 2012, that the budget will be reduced by the amounts set out in the table, and the targets will be adjusted correspondingly.

So you'll see that on page 9, dealing with the application of inflation for 2012.  I don't propose to review that; we'll come to it when we get to the unsettled issues.

Turning over the page to 2011, you'll note that there is a complete settlement with respect to the evaluation budget.  This is the amount that's going to be spent on evaluation through the period, and there is also, in relation to the evaluation budget, if Union does not spend the full evaluation budget, that amount will be returned to ratepayers through the disposition of a deferral account.

The DSM incentive is on page 12, and this is an unsettled issue but it's an unsettled issue only as it relates to the issue of the interpretation of the guidelines and the issue you heard yesterday.

Over the page to page 14, there is a complete settlement with respect to the allocation of low-income program costs and overheads.  Those are simply going to be allocated according to the Board's recently approved distribution revenue by rate class, so there's a complete settlement on that.

At the bottom of the page, you'll see the stakeholder terms of reference, and obviously I adopt Mr. O'Leary's submissions from yesterday, as I indicated earlier, about the terms of reference.

Resource acquisition, the resource acquisition program is referred to and discussed beginning on the next page.  It's partially settled.  This is one of the issues on which Pollution Probe has not agreed.  All of the other parties have agreed to the resource acquisition scorecard, which is detailed under item -- under table -- I'm sorry, the table that's on page 16.

And what you have there, members of the Board, is the target at the lower band level, the 75 percent/100 percent target, and then the upper band, the 125.  And you'll see that the scorecard has three components.

The first component and by far the largest component, having a weighting of 90 percent, is the cumulative natural gas savings target in cubic metres, a weighting of 90 percent, and then two five percent weights attached to deep savings.  And the Board will be aware that the guidelines contemplate deep measures, longer-term savings, and those are reflected both in the deep savings residential homes and then the deep savings commercial/industrial, and then what's discussed over on the following pages is exactly how -- what the scorecard will be for those two five percent weightings, those two deep measure targets.

One thing I wanted to draw your attention to is on the second portion of the table on page 16 and top of page 17, and it's discussed further on page 17, is how the targets are adjusted for 2013 and 2014.  And it's very simple.  It's simply the multiplication of the cost-effectiveness of Union's DSM efforts in 2012 on an m-cubed basis, multiplied by the budget, times a stretch factor of 1.02.

So there's a formulaic approach to how the targets should be set for 2013 and 2014, and it's transparent and understandable to the parties.  It relies on post-audit results, so it will have gone through, Union's results will have gone through the terms of reference process that's detailed and the evaluation process detailed there, and what you will be dealing with is actual cost-effectiveness multiplied by your budget, multiplied by a stretch factor.

Now, one of the things that I should draw your attention to, because it's also unsettled, is over on page 22.  And it relates to the DSMVA and the overall resource acquisition budget.

One of the issues, in my submission, that is reflected in the Board's guidelines is a recognition that, while the pursuit of DSM is important, it has to be done in the context of rate affordability and predictability, at least from a rates perspective to various rates classes.

And one of the things that's reflected in this agreement is recognition of a limitation on switching of program costs.  And so there is, I believe, in the guidelines what's referred to as a 30 percent cap on the switching of program costs.  And if the utility intends to exceed that, then the utility needs to come back to the Board.

In my submission, what that refers to in the guidelines is the recognition that parties want predictability from a rate-class level as to what it is that they're going to be asked to pay at the end of the day.

The way that's been tackled in this agreement and this issue is, rather than the 30 percent - and recognizing that Union hasn't in the past done things this way - is that there is a cap on the shift in resource acquisition budget between rate classes of 100 percent of the amount allocated to the rate class.  So parties know that Union can't move more than 100 percent of the amount that had been set out in the budget into the rate class.  So there won't be anything more than a doubling.  And there's an example.  If it had previously been $1 million, it can only be $2 million.

And that applies, in this instance, on the resource acquisition scorecard both to the overall resource acquisition budget and to any funds that are accessed in the DSM variance account.

Turning over the page to page 23, we have the large industrial rate T1 and rate 100 program.  This is the one area of the settlement agreement in which the parties have restricted the term to one year.

Now, the Board will be aware in the guidelines that there was a recognition that rate 100 T1 may be different.  Large customers have the ability, both sophistication and budget, to perhaps engage in their own DSM or conservation activities.  And obviously you will have heard yesterday from Enbridge, which has a one-year deal.

This is the one aspect of Union's deal that is a one-year deal, and, in my submission, it reflects an appropriate balance between the desire to continue with programs at the rate 100, T1 level and a recognition that there may need to be some flexibility going forward.

And so for that reason, it's only a one-year term.

Now, I should say that the agreement specifically contemplates that Union will bring forward an application in 2013 and 2014 for rate 100 and T1, and, you know, Union has a long history of delivering DSM to those markets.  I don't foresee a problem.

But at this stage, what that is going to look like, I obviously can't say for certain, but I think the Board can take some comfort in the past history of the parties.

The one additional area that needs to be pointed out, in light of my friend for Pollution Probe's position, is on page 25, item 9, beginning "In the event":
"In the event that Union qualifies to access the 15% allowable overspend..."

I.e., through the DSMVA:
"... Union will only access the overspend for the Large Industrial Rate T1/Rate 100 program up to a maximum of 15% of the budget..."

And so this is different than had previously been the case, where Union, if it were in a position to access the DMSVA, could have accessed the entire amount of its DSMVA, i.e., 15 percent of $30 million, and dedicated that to program costs in the rate 100/T1 rate class.

And, again, consistent, in my submission, with one of the principles we talked about that there should be some rate predictability, and certainly from those rate classes wanting predictability, there was a limitation placed.

There is an ability, and from Union's perspective a flexibility, that's afforded, and a flexibility that will enable Union to deliver on targets that have been agreed to and to achieve excellent DSM results in those marketplaces, but it will provide them with some comfort that DSM spending is going to be limited.

And it's probably, at this stage, worth pointing something out, at least in this respect.  If I could ask you, members of the Board, to turn to page 8 of the settlement agreement?  I'm sorry, let's just go to appendix A.

It's at appendix A, page 8 in the bottom right-hand corner.  Perhaps page -- no.  Yes, page 8 is fine.

And what we have here are some materials that were provided, factual materials that were provided as part of the settlement conference.  And if I could just ask you, you should have a chart that says "page 4 of 5" in the upper right-hand corner, "Rate Class Impacts of DSM 2008-2009".  There, you have it.

So rate T1, if you look on the left-hand side, you'll see "Revenue, direct DSM in rates", $1.484 million.  That's the amount that's built into rates.

If you look over on the right-hand side, total 2011, you have a number of 10,971,000.  So through the operation of the DMSVA, which is $5.3 million, and SSM of 3.8 million, and then some modest amounts for indirect and LRAM, customers in that rate class would see the amount built in in rates going from $1.5 million, basically, to $11 million.

And that's the issue that is sought to be addressed through the capping that is addressed -- that I took you to earlier that's addressed on pages 23 through 25 of the settlement agreement.

And as the Board will be aware, because of the way in which the DMSVA and SSM are cleared after the fact, they're not out of period, I suppose, in -- well, they are in some sense out of period, but they are a year-later clearances.  And so customers in these rate classes are seeing big adjustments after the fact.

And, in my submission, it's entirely reasonable for those rate classes to want to know, up front, what it is that's going to be the max billed that I may have to pay at the end of the day, and then I can budget accordingly.

And bearing in mind the Board's recognition that T1/Rate 100 programs will have to be justified on their merits, and the Board's recognition in the guidelines that there should be a limit on program costs, in my submission, the compromise that's reflected in the settlement agreement is entirely reasonable and in the public interest.

Now, I don't want the Board to be left with the impression that this is the entire story, in that part of the adjustment that's taking place on this page is as a result of the prior allocation method that the Board had with respect to overheads.

Overheads used to be allocated based upon, as I understand it, TRC results.  So if you had a big TRC in a particular rate class, that drew more overheads.

The way overheads are being allocated now under the guidelines in this agreement, it's based upon program spend, which would have reduced these numbers somewhat.  But, directionally, the story is still the same and, directionally, that's the story that the parties wanted to address.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Smith, while you're there, what's the difference between what's on page 7?  The heading looks like it's exactly the same.  It says "Rate Class Impacts of DSM 2008-2009", et cetera.

MR. SMITH:  It's 2010.

MS. SPOEL:  Oh, that's 2010 and 2011.  Sorry.  Thank you.  Yeah, yeah.  I understand.

MR. SMITH:  And so you can see, I mean, if you were to look at it, that the story was not as dramatic in 2010, and the story was not as -- well, it was more dramatic in 2009 than 2010.  It went from 1.1 to 5.6.  In 2010, it went from 1.3 to 3.8.

MS. SPOEL:  Of course if we turn the page to 2012, which is the following page, then you see what's happening with the new --


MR. SMITH:  That's right.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, I'm fine.  I'm with you.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  So returning to the agreement itself, back again to the very good news on page 26, there's a complete settlement with respect to low income, and the low-income scorecard is laid out on page 28.  For 2012, 2013 and 2014, the scorecards have all been agreed to.

Page 34, there are some what are described as "other issues."  The LRAM adjustment, there's a -- oh, I'm sorry, I skipped over market transformation, which is page 30 and 32.  There, again, we have complete settlement, and we have market transformation scorecards which have been hammered out for each of 2012, 2013 and 2014, all of which are, in my submission, consistent with the guidelines.

At page 34, again, "Other issues," we have a complete settlement on the lost revenue adjustment mechanism, LRAM; we have a partial settlement on the DMSVA, and that, again, the issue is as, I've addressed before, the limit on overspend being capped; complete settlement on DSM program screening; and complete settlement on avoided costs.

So that is the agreement itself.  Before concluding, let me just finish by referring back to the opening portion of the agreement.  The agreement has been presented by the parties and Union as a package deal, in that it contains a non-severability clause, which the Board will have seen.  In my submission, there is nothing inappropriate about that, that the Board is often presented with agreements of that nature.

In fact, the Board's settlement guidelines specifically contemplate partial settlements and afford objecting parties specific rights, none of which are, in my submission, at issue or in any respect infringed by the nature of the agreement, in that the only outlier, Pollution Probe, has, as the Board's guidelines contemplate, the ability to adduce evidence and to cross-examine if Pollution Probe so avails itself.

And there is nothing in this agreement which restricts that, and the parties to the agreement are all fully aware of the consequences of the Board deciding not to accept the settlement and what that means, and are going into it with their eyes open.

So there is no issue of fairness at all, in my submission, with respect to the agreement, certainly not with the content from our perspective.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

Are there any other parties who are in support of the agreement who want to add anything to Mr. Smith's presentation of the agreement?

All right.  I'll take silence as declining the invitation.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, if I may, it's Michael Millar here.  I just wanted, as I was listening to the presentation, there was just one minor matter I was hoping to get a bit of clarification from Mr. Smith, with your permission.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And it was simply this.  He indicated the only part of the agreement that is not subject to a three-year deal is the programs related to the T100 class, in that they will be coming back for renewal or something different on that for 2013-2014.  And I suppose there will also perhaps be applications related to deferral and variance account clearance, things like that.

But I'm wondering if Mr. Smith could confirm that there will be no other applications related to any other programs, that, in fact, aside from this T100 issue, we won't -- the Board won't hear about DSM from Union again for the next three years.

MR. SMITH:  I believe that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

All right.  In that case, Mr. Klippenstein, I think you're the only person here who is proposing to speak in opposition to the settlement, apart from the two issues that are not settled at all.
Submissions by Mr. Klippenstein

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Yes, that's correct.  I am the only outlier, as my friend referred to me.

More on that word, actually, a little later.

But Pollution Probe, whom I represent, has participated in many settlement processes and many settlement agreements over many years, and signed on to many agreements and parts thereof.

In this case, however, Pollution Probe has not.  And my friend Mr. Smith, I think in his last sentence, suggested that the settlement agreement raises no issue of fairness at all.  I would respectfully disagree strongly and suggest this raises a huge issue of fairness, and that's the point of my comments this morning.

And when I say "fairness" I mean fairness both in a common-sense kind of way and fairness in a technical, legal way.

My friend Mr. Smith started his presentation by describing the number of -- the large number of parties that were signed on to this agreement and the many, many days that were involved in discussions, and I think there was a suggestion that this was -- and he described the wide range of parties that have signed on, from industrial groups to an environmental group, a wide range, and the suggestion being that this is a wonderful thing.

My friend showed the basis in facts that are attached as an appendix.  I think the impression that can be left, with some justification that this is a wonderful thing, that only an outlier would disagree with it, and that it would be a worthwhile agreement to preserve and accept.

What I would like to point out, however, it focuses on the "take it or leave it as a package" term that is built into the DNA of this settlement agreement.  And I'll, for your clarity and reference, refer to the actual wording in a moment.

But that is the point of my submissions today, that the settlement agreement says very clearly:  This must be accepted altogether, with no variations, or it cannot stand.

And that puts any party in this procedure, such as Pollution Probe, in a difficult position, because -- well, I'll go into some of the reasons for that later, but more importantly, or equally importantly, it puts the Board in a difficult position, in my submission.  And I'll elaborate on that.

But perhaps I can start by referring the Panel members to a Pollution Probe document brief which was prepared by myself and my colleague Kent Elson and distributed to all counsel late yesterday afternoon, I believe.  And we have copies available.

I think it only consists of matters from the record and from past transcripts and records, and maybe one page of a few calculations, and I don't think it's controversial.  Unless there's some objections, I propose to refer to it for convenience.

MS. SPOEL:  We have it, Mr. Klippenstein.  I think maybe we should mark it as an exhibit, since it brings in things from other cases and so on.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K1.1 will be the document brief of Pollution Probe.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  POLLUTION PROBE DOCUMENT BRIEF.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you.

Now, if I could ask the Panel to turn to tab 2, and the second page in that tab, which is stamped in the upper right-hand corner "page 3" of the document brief, has page 3 of the proposed settlement agreement.  And the second paragraph describes the "take it or leave it as a package" clause or the non-severability clause.  And because it matters, I'm going to read that one paragraph, with your permission.  It says:

"With the exception of Pollution Probe, the participating parties explicitly request that the Board consider and accept this settlement agreement as a package.  None of the matters in with respect of which a settlement has been reached is severable.  Numerous compromises were made by the participating parties with respect to various matters to arrive at this comprehensive agreement.  The distinct issues addressed in this proposal are intricately interrelated and reductions or increases to the agreed-upon amounts may have financial consequences in other areas of this proposal, which may be unacceptable to one or more of the participating parties.  If the Board does not accept the agreement in its entirety, including any partially settled issues, then there is no agreement, unless the participating parties agree that those portions of the agreement that the Board does accept may continue as a valid settlement."

Now, that's an "all or nothing" clause that is being put to the Board.  My friend, Mr. Smith, mentioned some of the Board's rules about settlement agreements, and he quite rightly talked about the partial settlement possibility, which the rules address, and the rights that non-signing parties have, such as cross-examination.

What I'm referring to in this is not part of the rules.  The rules do not allow, speak about or contemplate a non-severability clause.  It's not in the rules.

And what a non-severability clause does, it has dramatic effect.  As this paragraph says, what the parties are suggesting to the Board is everything is connected and you can't change anything, because changing anything will affect other things.

Now, Pollution Probe's position regarding conservation and DSM would change, if accepted by the Board, some parts of this agreement, because it would change the allowed amounts of, for example, industrial DSM.

So if Pollution Probe's position were to be accepted by the Board after evidence and argument, it would have spinoff effects in parts of this agreement.

In other words, what the parties are saying to you is you cannot accept Pollution Probe's position because, if you do, it will necessarily affect parts of this agreement, and what we all together as signors are saying, then this agreement is null and void.

So the Board is being put in the position of saying, You have to choose between this agreement and Pollution Probe's proposed position.  You have to choose.  You cannot logically have both.

And what the parties have said altogether is said the Board doesn't have the ability to sort of work with that.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, Mr. Klippenstein, wouldn't one of the possible outcomes be that the Board might accept your client's position and say, Yes, we think there should be more or less spent in an area, or whatever, and then the consequence of that would be that there is no agreement, and then the parties all make representations as to what the appropriate impacts -- or how the ripple effect, if you want, of changing that aspect of it should be played out?

And the Board would make a decision as to -- and there could be evidence and argument on all aspects of it, as to whether or not we should be, you know, moving something out of here or not, and so on, and presumably the extent -- well, we would hear all of that.  Everything would be open, and we would come to a decision.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That's an important question.  And as I understand it, that's a scenario where the Board can say, Let's hear Pollution Probe's argument, submissions, and people can respond.  We, the Board, will then decide on that one issue, and then we'll deal with the effect on the settlement agreement.

Now, if that's what Madam Chair has in mind, or something like it, and if I'm not understanding that --


MS. SPOEL:  Well, that's not what I was suggesting.  What I was suggesting was that we would not only hear -- we would hear your client's views.  Then we would hear everyone else's views, and on everything.  The whole thing -- you're right -- the whole thing would be, in effect, up for grabs.

But I would think that the other parties would be guided, in part, by the sorts of discussions that have happened in the settlement conference.

I mean, you're right, there would be no agreement and we would have to make a decision on the entire thing.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think that would be fine, if I understand, from my client's point of view and I think from a procedural fairness point of view.  The problem with that is it basically says we're going to have a full hearing.  And that's --


MS. CHAPLIN:  There is the provision, though, isn't there, that the parties could agree?  I mean, we have dealt with this issue before, have we not, Mr. Klippenstein?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes, and I --

MS. CHAPLIN:  Where the panel has decided or the Board has decided that some portion of a non-severable settlement agreement has been unacceptable to the Board, and the parties have taken that away, and, in some cases have agreed, Okay, we will sever that.

So that is a potential outcome, is it not?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  And I think, with respect, that is what should be done.  I've included some transcripts from previous hearings where that has been dealt with.  And I think, although the transcripts are never entirely clear, that has been frequently the result.

And I think my submission is that the Board should say, up front, today, that non-severability clause is not acceptable.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, that's a different argument, Mr. Klippenstein, isn't it?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  No.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, then perhaps you'll need to explain that to me, because it seems to me that we've seen this type of wording very frequently.  And we have dealt with the issue, and there have been a variety of outcomes.

But it seems to me you're wanting to argue that the parties need to -- if we were to separate the partially settled issues from the fully settled issues, you want all the other parties to be bound to the issues that your client agrees to.  So the fully settled issues, you want those set in stone, and you want the flexibility to just look at the one where your party doesn't agree.

And it seems to me, in seeking what you see as fairness to your party, you're imposing an unfairness on the other parties who were content with the entire package and want to see the entire package.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I respectfully suggest it's the other way around.

This is my starting point.  The Board is constituted by law, by statute, to have hearings or other modes of discussion and input, and to make decisions in the public interest on just and reasonable rates and other things.

And I didn't make that up.  That's the statute.  And so there's a built-in process which is fundamental, about hearing positions, hearing input, argument, and then the Board deciding.

And what Pollution Probe is saying, the fairness - we didn't make this up - the fairness is from the statute.  I, for my client, want to be able to put to the Board the arguments, facts, evidence on this particular point and have a fair-minded, open-minded decision, which I think is just precisely what the whole structure requires.

Now, what this does, on the other hand, is it says to the Board -- and the fairness can be -- or unfairness can be subtle but powerful, because, you know, people talk about if this were to have a full hearing, we'd be here for -- you know, until the cows come home.  Well, nobody wants that.

And so there is pressure, and there's no denying it, on the Board, if it has to choose between deciding in Pollution Probe's favour based on the argument, and the "take it or leave it" settlement package.  The Board will be tempted, consciously or unconsciously, rationally, practically, to be influenced toward the more practical.

And, you know, from Pollution Probe's point of view or for a member of the public's point of view, I don't think there is any denying that that problem exists.


And so the fairness that Pollution Probe is asking, for one, it's just the fairness that's built into the statute, and that's the baseline.  That's what we're asking for.

And whether it's a common-sense point of view or a strictly legal point of view about how hearings should be fairly conducted, Pollution Probe wants its position heard fairly without this agreement hanging over it, when it's simply undeniable that there will be a temptation to slide -- say, man, oh, man, if we accept Pollution Probe's argument -- Mr. Klippenstein is very persuasive, very persuasive, but if we accept it, we're going to be here for weeks.

There's other problems with fairness, which is that the settlement agreement requires everyone to defend the whole agreement.  So on Pollution Probe's issue, in a hearing point of view, people would have different points of view.  And I've been through many hearings, and some people will say, That's not my issue, I don't care, or, We support that issue, or, We have no position on that.

So instead of Pollution Probe being an outlier, the lone nut-case over here, there will be a variety of -- but this makes Pollution Probe look like it's us against everyone else.  And that is an unavoidable dynamic.

So there is a perception issue, and people are obliged to defend this.  So they're obliged to take a position against Pollution Probe purely because of this agreement.

So those are the kinds of issues of fairness.

But I think the fundamental one, in my submission, is that so long as this non-severability provision is there, it's not possible for there to be a genuine perception that the Board is making its decision purely on the evidence, on the argument, on what it considers to be the public interest, the best public policy, and whether -- from a common-sense point of view, and in my submission from a legal point of view, in terms of procedural fairness.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Klippenstein, are you limiting it to those circumstances where there are one or more issues on which there is a partial settlement?  So are you advocating at this point that the Board's practice direction should be modified so that -- because there is currently a reference to -- it certainly contemplates receiving agreements that are package deals.  It says:

"Parties to the settlement proposal should make it clear in their proposal whether or not they expect the Board to accept the proposal as a package, and should outline their rationale for the position taken."

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well --


MS. CHAPLIN:  So -- well, maybe I could just get to my question, and then you can deal with all of the various parts that you may wish to address.

So I read from this a contemplation of something similar to the non-severability clause, which we've seen very frequently in settlement agreements.  So what I'm trying to understand is if perhaps the thrust of your argument is, in those instances where a settlement agreement includes portions which are completely settled and partially settled, that the non-severability should in all cases be limited to only those issues that are fully settled by all the parties, and that for any issues for which there is a partial settlement, those should -- from the upfront, everybody should understand that those, by necessity, should be excluded from any severability clause.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  In my submission –-

MS. CHAPLIN:  The parties didn't know that going into this, right?  And we've never had that requirement before.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, I think, first of all, I respectfully agree fully with your submission.  I think that should be --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, it wasn't my submission.  I'm trying to paraphrase your submission.

[Laughter]


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  You don't submit; you decide.

I fully agree with that position.  I think that, respectfully, that is a good framework to put forward, because then -- and this intricate connection thing is real and it's legitimate.  But it, in my submission, should be restricted or maintained in its proper place.  And non-severability applies to fully settled issues, I think is very fair.

But I don't fully agree, in my respectful submission, that the parties didn't contemplate this, because this has come up several times.  I've argued it in the past.  People know about this.  And quite apart from that, it's an obvious, I think, practical and legal issue, because people are all signing on to this agreement, and they're saying -- you know, Pollution Probe is singled out in this clause.  With the exception of Pollution Probe, people know what they're doing here.  I mean, I don't take it personally, but...

MS. SPOEL:  But Mr. Klippenstein, if you said the only -- it's all non-severable except the partially settled issues, isn't the result of that going to be that the next time there's a settlement agreement, Pollution Probe will not agree on issues A, B and C, and CME might say:  Well, we don't agree on issues D, E and F, because if A, B and C aren't settled, then the implications for our issues are different, so we're going to be the outlier - if you want to use that word - on those ones.  And you won't have anything fully settled because everything will be partially settled, because every party has some issues that are near and dear to them, or that they feel more strongly about than others, and so nothing will be fully settled.  And you -- one party, all it takes is one party on each issue to dig in their heels, or just -- I'm not using "dig in their heels" in a pejorative sense, just to simply say:  We can't agree to this.

And there won't be a settlement at all, because everything will be partially settled.

I would think that when the application comes in, one could assume it's partially settled, because there's no party who objects to everything in the application.  But to -- I mean, if your client has a -- I think there's probably a reason that our rules or our Settlement Conference guidelines -- I shouldn't say rules -- our guidelines allow for the concept of a package.  Because I believe that a number of years ago, the Board ran into some issues with picking out one or two issues and saying we don't accept them, and then the parties saying well, if we'd known that, we wouldn't have agreed to the whole thing.  Because it has implications, and that's why that clause is in there.

So it's either all non-severable -- you can't have some of it be non-severable, and the parts that your client doesn't like become the severable parts, I think.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  In my submission, I think that's a logical concern, but ultimately it's not well-founded because, for a number of reasons.  Number one, any party who is a quote-unquote outlier will stand or fall based on the evidence and the decision.  So to some extent it's an all-or-nothing game -- not a game.  These are real issues, but a party who chooses to go to a hearing has a downside risk.  And that's one of the advantages of agreement.  You can say, well, we can work something out that we get part of what we want, and we get it in a different way than the Board can award.

So there's strong incentives not to just reflexively be an outlier.

And furthermore, people can quite rationally take the non- -- the severability issue into account when they make their deals.  They can say:  Well, you know, this party over here is not agreeing.  If they win at the Board, then these kinds of changes will happen and I can live with that.

And so it won't inhibit agreements if severability is allowed.  People can just take that into account.

As I said, I think it's in people's interests; they can figure it out whether or not they want to risk a Board hearing, and people can lose at the Board hearing.  And I do think there was one or two occasions over the 20 years when I have lost in argument at the Board, so it happens.

But I think that the idea that suddenly everyone will be an outlier is not a real -- I mean, it will be accommodated for, in my submission.  But there is still the point of procedural fairness.  I mean, I think that -- I mean, that's the basic rule for Board procedures.  That's what the law says.  That's the Board's job.  So that must be accounted for.

And when my friend says -- my friend Mr. Smith said at the end there's no issue of fairness here, well, I'm a little concerned that, you know, I'm called an outlier, and that there is no issue of fairness.  And I just have to say, with the greatest of respect, I think that the issue of fairness is real.

And in my submission, the Board could and should now say, you know non-severability, for unsettled issues, is not going to be our practice.  And then that is fair, and people will not be tempted to -- you know, people can build coalitions against another party, and that can happen in negotiations, and --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. –-

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Sorry.

MS. CONBOY:  We've heard that if there are partially settled issues, there may be different permutations and combinations of what is settled, and therefore we will never reach a full settlement.

And I think I hear you saying that that risk is low.

Against the issue, what I think you started off with is that as a Panel, if we were to hear your three issues that you were not on-board with, that we would be, in part of our decision to listen to your issues, would be that if we agree with Pollution Probe, then that means the whole settlement agreement goes out the door and everything is up for grabs.

So are you suggesting that the three of us would not be able to hear those three issues of concern that you have without, at the back of our mind, the ramifications of the whole settlement agreement being tossed out?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I just think that that is the world we live in, and that's being human.  And whether it's my client or me as a lawyer or a member of the public, I think it's common sense that -- and whether it actually happens in one's mind, consciously or subconsciously, or it only is perceived as a possible reality, it's a real issue.

And part of the purpose, in my submission, of the legal structure the Board has is precisely to ensure independence and fairness, so that, you know, the parties here and the members of the public can feel that the Board will not be subtly and unconsciously tilted away from the evidence, the arguments, the policies, the public interest, not unconsciously, subconsciously, or any other way, that the Board will visibly make its decisions on the evidence, the facts, the arguments and public policy, and not even have the perception or possibility of being dissuaded by the fact that if I decide against Pollution Probe, I am going to sit here for a three-week hearing or more.

Whether or not the purest human being can ever not consider that, most people think people do consider that.  And I think, actually, that putting forward an agreement with this clause is legally improper, because it's not -- because the Board should not be put in the position of having to deal with this.

I think this builds in legally improper procedural unfairness.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So, Mr. Klippenstein, I would just like to take you back.  I'm looking at the guidelines on settlement conferences.  And, for example, at page 6, it sets out the rights of parties who disagree with the settlement, which I take it to be your client's position in respect of the issues that have been labelled as partially settled.

And it sets out, as I understand it, the right to offer evidence and to cross-examine.


And then, likewise, it sets out, further on, at page 8 -- we've already talked about the fact that it contemplates non-severability clauses.  And on page 8, it says:
"Where the Board does not accept a settlement package that the parties have specifically requested be accepted as a package, the Board will reject the settlement proposal as a whole and will proceed to a hearing of all the issues on the issues list."

So I'm wondering what your view is.  It appears that these guidelines contemplate the very circumstance that I gather your client will be urging on us, which is to not accept the partial settlement on a number of issues, you know, to wait and hear what the parties say, but to basically say we don't accept the agreement.

That's why we have, as I understand -- as I expect it, that's why we have these proceedings to hear the settlement agreements, is to decide whether or not we will accept them, knowing full well that if we don't accept an agreement, we have a hearing.

So I guess I'm trying to understand.  This would seem to be -- you know, this is an example of where the Board seeks to control its processes to ensure fairness and to also ensure, where possible, to use efficient means to reach decisions that are ultimately in the public interest.

So it isn't a matter of allowing every potential party every unlimited access to -- so that being said, I guess, and given that these guidelines do contemplate the circumstances in which you and your client find yourselves today, and wanting to argue against certain aspects, I'm wondering, you know, sort of -- I'd like to understand a little more fully the basis for your, I believe, fairly strong allegation of a perception of bias, because I think that's a pretty -- that's a significance that seems to go even beyond how I had first understood your concern.

So you seem to be taking it to that logical -- perhaps logical extent.  But given the seriousness of that, I think I'd like to understand just what we're talking about.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, as -- and that's an important point.  My submission, my observation, would be that this non-severability clause says that many of the issues are intricately interrelated, and reductions or increases will or may have financial consequences.

This is very clear, that it's all or nothing.  And Pollution Probe, on the issue of industrial DSM -- and, by the way, Pollution Probe's position is that the present guidelines should be upheld.  This agreement lowers or restricts DSM compared to the guidelines.

So Pollution Probe is simply defending the present guidelines on DSM.  But it is inherent and obvious that if Pollution Probe's position is adopted, this will not stand.  So that puts the Board in a very difficult position.

And, in my submission, the Board simply should not be put in that position.  That Pollution Probe makes its arguments and its submissions, that will be opposed by every other party, whether they in fact oppose them or not in their heart, and Pollution Probe will be the only party, and Pollution Probe effectively has to argue not just for the one position, but has to argue against all the other positions.

So instead of coming here and saying, I just want your consideration on this position, I am now effectively taking on all the other issues, because all the other parties say this is fine.  And, you know, whether I treat that as a practical procedural matter, saying, If you agree with me, then you have a three-week hearing; or whether I say I effectively am arguing against what everyone else says, that's also not entirely fair because it's an artificial construct; or whether I say that the Board members, the Board, is being subjected to influences that it should not be subjected to, those are all different ways of saying that procedural fairness is not being adhered to the way, in my submission, the statute anticipates, the normal concepts of fairness do.

And I'm not being critical of anybody.  I mean, I -- this is simply, in my submission, holding up accepted ideas of what it means to have fair consideration in the public interest.

The other factor here is my friend Mr. Smith referred to the industrial DSM variance account limits, and so forth, and referred to the idea that it helps predictability and so forth for that rate class.

Well, the issue here is not just what particular parties', you know, self-interest is as a group.  It really is, from our point of view, Pollution Probe's point of view, what's good for the province, what's good for the economy, what's good for competitiveness, cost-effectiveness and energy-saving.

So when I say Pollution Probe would like procedural fairness, it's beyond just the parties here.  We want our ability to say we want a truly and indisputably independent Board to hear our arguments and not be -- hear our arguments on the merits, which Pollution Probe thinks is in the public interest, and not have these other factors even potentially at play.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, Mr. Klippenstein, are you suggesting that -- well, first of all, I think the Board in the past has rejected aspects of settlement agreements, so I think we're actually reasonably capable of listening to and being persuaded by good arguments that a settlement proposal should not be accepted.

And I don't think we make our decisions that we -- it's not a vote.  The fact that it's one person or one party arguing something and ten arguing the opposite does not mean that we will necessarily go with the ten.  It's not a popularity contest.

It's about what we think is in the public interest, being persuaded by the argument, based on the arguments of the parties and our own knowledge and experience of the area.

So I don't -- the fact that your client is the only one taking a particular point of view and the others are all opposed to it, I don't think that should be of concern to you.  I think we're quite capable of rising above that.

As to the other issues, I think that if you -- I mean, I don't understand the difficulty with your client presenting its views on why we should not accept the settlement agreement or not accept the portions of the settlement agreement that you object to, and then we'll deal with what the outcome of that is.  And the outcome may be that the other parties say:  All right, we'll renegotiate the rest of that, given that the Board won't accept these -- if we chose to accept your client's position -- or we don't have a settlement at all, and we'll have a hearing.

I fail to understand where the lack of procedural fairness in that possible out -- the fact that we don't necessarily want to have a full hearing or prefer not to have to hear full evidence on every issue in every case and have settlement guidelines to help with that doesn't mean that we're afraid of doing so.

MS. CONBOY:  I might just add something to Ms. Spoel, that when we're talking about coming forward with evidence and argument as to one point that was partially settled, and you've got one party that's making an argument for a certain outcome, we don't sit here and view that other parties are opposed to that outcome.  We recognize the fact that there are trade-offs in a settlement agreement, and you would take other parties as being neutral, I would suggest, because we're listening to your arguments only.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I thank you, and I in no way intend to impugn the integrity or the capacity of individual Board members or the Board.

My whole point is that this is an issue of procedural fairness, including the perception of procedural fairness.

And there's no doubt that the Board can and does think through those matters in the way that's been described, but that it's an issue of removing any concern; it's an issue of Pollution Probe or any other party, at any other time in the future, being fully confident that the issue will be determined on its merits, and that's it.

And I -- and this is purely in the abstract.  The reason that courts, for example, have been extremely concerned about procedural fairness is about the importance of the perceived independence of courts or tribunals, and not -- you know, so people have a chance to have their say properly and fairly, without concern that the tribunal or board member or court or anyone else is being subject to influences and pressures other than the ones that are supposed to be determining the decision.

And I just submit that this kind of non-severability clause is not necessary.  It's not necessary to have good negotiations and good comprehensive settlements.

And for example, some of the references, Member Chaplin, that you referred to in the existing guidelines, they talk about, for example, where the Board does not accept a settlement agreement that the parties have specifically requested be accepted as a package.  Again, that refers to, as far as I can tell, a complete settlement, either a complete settlement of all issues or a complete settlement of a specified number of issues.

And everyone understands that the group needs to justify the overall package, and that's fine, but that's not what's happening here.

So I respectfully would suggest this doesn't address specifically the question that I am concerned about.

In my submission, if the Board accepts, begins to accept the practice of non-severability clauses, they will become more and more common, and that builds in an incentive to form coalitions against specific parties, which creates a dynamic against parties being able to have settlement agreements.  If there is an incentive to form a coalition against one or two or three parties, which may differ from time to time, that will become the practice.

MS. SPOEL:  Isn't that a different issue, Mr. Klippenstein?  I mean, if your concerns are about the dynamics of the settlement process, which is not the -- isn't the solution to that problem, for a party who feels that the settlement process itself is not being fairly conducted, to refuse to participate in it in that particular case, and to refuse to sign the agreement and force the matter to a hearing so that their views can be heard?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, the --


MS. SPOEL:  Are you perhaps not suggesting we sort of throw the baby out with the bath water here?  That because sometimes maybe there might be people ganging up on certain parties, that we shouldn't --


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  No, no --

MS. SPOEL:  -- continue to use the settlement conference guidelines that have been in effect at the Board for quite some years?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Don't misunderstand me, with the greatest of respect.  I am very far away from criticizing the settlement process, the settlement concept, and so I, by no means, intend to do that.

I'm just suggesting that these rules make a difference; they have an effect.  And if, in my submission, the issue of whether or not, you know, an outlier can be -and I use that term because that's what is repeatedly applied to people, with a pejorative implication - that it does taint the baseline of procedural fairness, which is the goal.

MS. SPOEL:  Just so I understand what you're asking of us here today, are you asking the Board to, in effect, change our settlement conference guidelines so as no longer to allow there to be a package deal?

Or are you asking us, specifically in this individual case, to reject the clause in the agreement that says that this settlement agreement is a package?

I just want to make sure I understand the relief that you're seeking from us today.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I'm asking today that the Board make clear that it does not accept the non-severability clause that I've read to the Panel today, and give the members -- the parties, a reasonable period, 24 or 48 hours, to discuss and consider whether they want to, for example, say that's fine.  As has happened in other cases, we will put the package before the Panel, defend it, and the other issues that have to go to a hearing will go to a hearing.

That, in my submission, is fair, proper.  It's been done before on the Board.  So that would be my submission and my request.

MS. SPOEL:  All right.  So that's your first prayer for relief is that we reject this specific clause?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Now, what about the other aspects of the agreement that you do not -- that your client does not agree with?  Do you wish to have us reject those, as well?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  No, because the implication of what I have just submitted is that the parties will have to decide whether they are prepared to proceed, let's say, with this agreement without the non-severability clause, and then Pollution Probe can have its issue heard with complete confidence that all parties know that that will be determined on its merits.

And if Pollution Probe's views are accepted, then that necessarily affects certain parts of the agreement, but people will have decided that's fine.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, Mr. Klippenstein, the procedural order for today's proceeding was that we were going to hear submissions on the settlement agreement.  We didn't propose to do this in a multi-stage process where we dealt with one piece, and then send it back, and then have it come forward again to deal with the next piece.

So if you have submissions on the other portions of -- we've heard your submissions on this non-severability clause.  If you have submissions on the other clauses that your client objects -- does not agree to as to why we should not accept them, regardless of the non-severability issue, we had assumed we would hear those today, because that's what our procedural order contemplated.

It's 11 o'clock now.  So I suggest we take our morning break, and perhaps over the break you can consider whether you are going to proceed to tell us why your client objects to the other -- you know, or why your client urges upon us that we not accept the other partially settled portions of the agreement, and then we can --


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I don't know if this will clarify things, but Pollution Probe has not agreed to the partial settlement of three items.  Those are all essentially one item.

MS. SPOEL:  No, I understand that.  But what I'm saying we'd like to hear is we'd like to hear your submissions as to why we should not accept the agreement on those items.  That's what we thought we would be doing this morning.

So perhaps we can come back at 11:20.  Mr. Smith, you look like you were about to jump up or can you --


MR. SMITH:  No, no.  Nothing to say.

MS. SPOEL:  We'll return at 11:20.  And, Mr. Klippenstein, perhaps you can move on to those other items, because I think we understand your argument on the non-severability.  We can move on to the other items when we get back.

--- Recess taken at 11:04 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:27 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Mr. Klippenstein?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Before the break, I believe you were asking Pollution Probe to address the points of the proposed settlement agreement that it does not suggest are good.

Before I do that - and I will do that partly - I do want to add the qualifier that the position of Pollution Probe today is not to make substantive arguments on the merits on those issues, although I will give some idea of that.

The point, from Pollution Probe's point of view, is that the settlement agreement should be rejected, or, at a minimum, the non-severability clause, and that Pollution Probe be allowed to make its submissions on the merits within the space assigned by the procedural order to the unsettled issues, on the 13th.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, Mr. Klippenstein, as I said before the break, the procedural order contemplated that we would deal with the settlement agreement today.

We would like to know, more than in general terms, what it is that you object to.

We did inquire, or Board Staff inquired, as to whether or not a witness panel was required today.  Our reason for that was we thought there might be questions of the witness.  It seemed to be that no one wanted a witness panel, so that's fine.

But we did not expect to come here today to then have to, you know, turn around and still not know what it is precisely that you object to, because we can't accept or reject the settlement agreement until we know what your position on the unsettled issues -- not only the severability clause, which we -– we understand your position on that one, and that's one that we would accept or reject depending on our conclusion and the representations of the other parties.

But we also, today, want to hear why we should not accept the three related clauses that your client has not signed on to.  And we don't really want to come back on February the 13th to do that piece of it, because we won't be able to issue a decision about whether or not we're accepting the settlement agreement as a whole, so we won't know, parties won't know, whether to prepare to have a hearing on the other issues on the 13th.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, to be clear, Madam Chair, I am not prepared on Pollution Probe to make my full argument on the issues that -- to make that full argument today on the issues substantively which Pollution Probe disagrees with.

My assumption was that, as set out in the procedural order, the substantive issues that remained unsettled would be dealt with in the normal way on the 13th.  And so that is what I have been assuming today.

But having said that, I will describe and identify the parts specifically of the settlement agreement that Pollution Probe thinks are mistaken, and in a general idea, explain why.

But I'm just not in a position, because of the procedural order, to make my full submissions today.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, Mr. Klippenstein, those sections, those parts of the procedural order -- or of the agreement are not unsettled; they're partially settled.  And it seemed to us that the procedural order was quite clear that the purpose of today's proceeding was for us to decide whether or not we would accept the settlement agreement.

I'm not sure which part of that the -- yes, we changed the date, but it says in number 5:
"If there is a settlement or a partial settlement agreement forthcoming, then that agreement shall be filed with the Board no later than 4:00 p.m. on Friday, January 20th."

That was subsequently made to a later date.  And then it said:
"The Board will sit on Monday, January 30th..." but it's now today, "... in the Board's [office]... to review any Settlement Proposal."

We are here today to review the settlement proposal, and reviewing it means hearing from parties as to why we should or should not accept it, including the partially settled items.

Now, I don't know if you can proceed this afternoon with your full argument on those issues.  Perhaps we could use the time this morning to hear the two unsettled -- argument on the two unsettled issues, so we can at least get those underway.

Mr. Smith, would you be able to provide a witness this afternoon if Mr. Klippenstein has questions?

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Boulton is here.  He's responsible for DSM at Union Gas, and he'll be available now or in the afternoon.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

You understand, Mr. Klippenstein, our problem is that if we choose not to accept the settlement agreement, including whether or not we accept the non-severability clause, we will want to come back on the 13th and hear every issue, every issue that any party then decides they don't want to proceed -- I mean, we will, in effect, end up in a hearing of some scope.  And I think it's -- procedural fairness requires that all the parties understand what the scope of that is going to be before they get there on the 13th.

Otherwise, we'll have to hear your issues on the 13th, and then we'll have to come back yet another time, once we've made a decision on your issues.

And we can't hear and decide your client's issues, I suggest, in the absence of knowing what the impact on everybody else, all the other issues, might be.

If we, for example, were to increase the budgets in the areas you want, well, then the money has to come out of somewhere else, because there's a cap.

These things are related.  So we can't deal with your client's issues without that general context, except whether or not we should accept what the other parties have all agreed to or not.  And if we say not, then it's all open.  If we say yes, then your client will not have any further opportunity.

But you understand our quandary?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I do.  And if I may address that, first of all, with respect to Pollution Probe, in Pollution Probe's view the issue that it has identified regarding industrial DSM is not settled.  It simply is not a settled issue with respect to Pollution Probe.

And my understanding was that that is recognized, and that one consequence is that Pollution Probe is entitled to procedural rights regarding the hearing.  That's my understanding.

Secondly, I understand, Madam Chair, your concern about the procedural steps.  In my submission, this is an example of the problem that comes from a non-severable settlement agreement.  And in my submission, it is solvable by the Board simply saying:  Today, we do not accept the settlement agreement because of the non-severability clause.

And I think it is not impractical, because it has actually been done by the Board in other cases.  And it's, I think, a practical and fair solution to say -- if the parties come back and say we waive the non-severability clause, everything else stands, that solves that problem.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, okay.  Mr. Klippenstein, the settlement guidelines say that:

"A party who has been identified in the settlement proposal as a party who does not agree with the settlement of an issue", and I suggest that would be Pollution Probe in this case, "is entitled to offer evidence in opposition to the settlement proposal and to cross-examine the applicant on that issue at the hearing."


We are at the hearing today, and your client is entitled to -- this is not a procedural day, this is a hearing.  Your client is entitled to offer evidence in opposition to the settlement proposal and to cross-examine the applicant.

Now, we have heard from Mr. Smith that the right to cross-examine is available to your client today.  I do not know whether Pollution Probe intends to offer evidence in opposition.  But we do not intend to deal with this settlement agreement on a piecemeal basis by, first of all, making a decision on one unsettled issue, which is severability, and then coming back to deal with other unsettled issues, including the ones that aren't agreed to by any parties and the ones that are partially settled or unsettled vis-à-vis your client.

We would like to hear all of that today.  And if you're not able -- well, that's what our intention was coming into today.

Now, Mr. Smith has a witness available.  Does your client intend to call evidence -- leaving aside this question of severability, whichever way we decide on that issue, was your client intending to call evidence on the settlement agreement?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, with the greatest of respect, Madam Chair, to be clear, my client is not prepared to present its case on the industrial DSM issue today.  My client expected to have that treated as an unsettled issue, which it is, and to be entitled the opportunity or afforded the opportunity on the 13th to have that heard on its merits.

MS. SPOEL:  Can you answer my question, though, which was:  Is your client intending to call evidence, itself, on that issue, or merely -- or to only avail itself of its right to cross-examine the applicant's witness?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  At the present -- and that is not conclusive in my mind, but at the present, Pollution Probe, I think, does not intend to call witnesses, but merely to cross-examine.  But that decision is not final.  I think that's what it will be, but I can only say that my client did not understand and did not intend to have its issues heard on the merits today.

So I have not prepared the case for presentation today, because of the procedural order that said the unsettled issues, which this is, in my respectful view, would be heard on the 13th.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry.  Maybe this is very clear now, but it's only becoming clear to me now, that whereas in the settlement proposal, which Pollution Probe is a signatory to, these issues are identified as partial settlement.

Pollution Probe is now taking the position that they are unsettled issues and, therefore, by definition, should be severable from the balance of the agreement.  Is that --


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, this is an illustration of the problem that I've mentioned before.  From Pollution Probe's point of view, they are unsettled, and therefore Pollution Probe would like them heard on its merits.

They are unsettled, from Pollution Probe's point of view.

MS. CHAPLIN:  They are unsettled, but -- so do you ever see a scope for a partial settlement where a number of parties may agree -- even on a completely severable basis, can there be a partial settlement where a number of parties agree as to a particular outcome, and one or more parties disagree?  The settlement proposal, partial as it is, is put to the Board, and then the parties who believe it should not be accepted have these opportunities, which are set out in the guidelines?

I think that's how we envisioned -- when we read the words of the settlement proposal which identified these issues as partially settled, I think we saw it as fitting squarely within these provisions.

But as I understand what your argument is now, is that the concept of a partial settlement, in and of itself, is suspect or inappropriate?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Not at all.  Not at all, in my submission.  And, again, in my submission, this comes back to the non-severability clause which is causing these problems, in my submission.

The Board, in my submission, can decide to accept or reject a partial settlement, and that's quite appropriate and very useful.  And, in my submission, the Board can make a decision today on the partial settlement as proposed.

My submission is that the Board should reject it today because of the non-severability clause, but, in addition, there's a further step I think that is practicable, which is that the Board could say, We do not find the non-severability clause acceptable.  The rest may be fine, except that the unsettled issues need to be heard on the merits.

And to me, that is --


MS. CHAPLIN:  But by saying that what you're saying is a non-settled issue should be heard on the merits, I interpret that to be you're saying that an issue that has been identified as partially settled has to go to a complete hearing.

Is that what you're saying, or am I --


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  In my mind, I am not sure how my client, or any other party, can say this issue is not settled and, therefore, I would like to present my case, and then I think it follows that there has to be a proper hearing on that issue.

But all the other parties can have -- and the Board -- can have accepted the rest of the settlement, with the understanding that if the Board hears and decides the unsettled issue and decides in favour of Pollution Probe, that that will have other spinoff implications.  But the parties will have to deal with it, because that settlement agreement is now accepted, and they will have to deal with the --


MS. CHAPLIN:  But, Mr. Klippenstein -- so correct me if I am wrong.  I think, if I understand your position correctly, let's say the settlement proposal had come forward and there had been a suite of fully settled issues, including Pollution Probe and all the parties, and that was a package, and then there was a separate package of -- and there were the two unsettled issues, which we will set aside, with respect to the inflation and the incentive.  Let's set those aside.

And then there are these three remaining issues, which you've described are essentially one main issue, but it finds its way into three aspects, which has been characterized as a partial settlement.

Let's say that was stand-alone.  We would have the parties, who have amongst themselves reached an agreement, which Pollution Probe does not agree with.  Well, that would be what we would be hearing today, is it not, under our guidelines?

You are a party, Pollution Probe is a party which has not -- is not a signatory to what is otherwise an agreed conclusion, and today would be the day that Pollution Probe would have the opportunity to cross-examine, lead evidence, make submissions, and then the Panel would then decide on whether or not to accept the agreement.

Isn't that -- so wouldn't we, even if you sort of -- even if we found in your favour in respect of the severability or even if the settlement agreement had come forward in that way, that would be what today was about, is it not?  They're not unsettled.  They're partially settled.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, we've identified in the materials -- and this may just help clarify the issue a little bit as a preliminary matter.  We've identified in tab 2A the specific wording parts of the settlement agreement which Pollution Probe disagrees with.  The words are struck out to show what Pollution Probe thinks -- it specifically disagrees with.

Now, I guess the difficulty is that when certain issues are not unanimously settled, how is a fair hearing going to be given on those aspects?

Now, the present procedural order states that unsettled issues will be dealt with on Monday, and I don't know whether it is -- the partially settled issue, whether it's Pollution Probe or five parties, or so on, it is unsettled with respect to those issues.  And the fact that it's only Pollution Probe makes it look as if it's somehow not an unsettled issue.

But if it was five parties, it would be -- it would look more unsettled, but my submission is that it simply is unsettled.  And so for today, if the Board can and should decide --


MS. CHAPLIN:  But then what's the purpose of a day to hear a settlement agreement?  Because that would only contemplate that the only kind of agreement we would hear on a settlement day would be one that had been complete -- I mean, I guess maybe is that what your point is, that the only thing that can be heard on a settlement agreement day is a complete settlement, that that would never be where the expectation would be, that those parties who had disagreed with one or more part of it would be expected to make their submissions?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes, with respect to issues that are completely settled.  So that issues that are completely settled can be heard as a settlement, but for the other issues, this gets back to my point, which is there must be, in my submission, a hearing.

Now, if --


MS. CHAPLIN:  So there is -- I think I come back to my first question, is that I think at the nub of your argument is that there really is no scope for a partial settlement, that a partial settlement, by definition, is unsettled and therefore subject to a hearing, in which case some parties may have an agreed position, but it's not -- what happens to that agreed position?  Is that the starting point?  Or does it -- is there essentially, if there's either a full agreement or there's no agreement on an issue?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think, with respect, we need to be clear about -- when we use "full agreement" or "unsettled" -- we need to be clear about issues.

A full agreement on certain issues is a full agreement with respect to those issues.

An issue on which there is not full agreement is an unsettled issue, because if the procedural rights of the unsettling parties or non-agreeing parties must be respected, there must be a hearing on those unsettled, partially unsettled issues.

So it's an important distinction to make.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And I think you're also sort of saying procedurally that can't happen on the day, unless the party happens to be prepared.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  There should not be an expectation on the party to undertake that hearing -- or party or parties who are opposed to a partial -- well, what is a partial settlement, then?  What is it?  Does it have any -- any value?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, a partial settlement on an issue -- let's say issue A -- well, let's say issue A is completely settled; issue B is partially settled.

Then issue A presents no problem; the Board can simply accept the settlement.  On issue B, if the procedural rights and fairness with respect to the non-settling parties, there must be a hearing, in my submission.

And so those two classes must be handled separately.

And I suppose if it were made crystal-clear beforehand that the non-settled issues -- because that's what they are, even if there is only a partial settlement -- if those issues are going to be heard on the same day as the hearing of the settled issues, then that can be handled.

But in my respectful submission - and maybe it's just me, but I don't think it is just me - that when the scheduled -- when the hearing of unsettled issues was scheduled for the 13th, issues that are only partially settled are unsettled issues if the procedural rights of those parties are to be respected.

And that means the proper notice to those parties and to everyone that there will be a hearing on those unsettled issues.

And even if there are 50 parties agreeing and one party has not, then that is an unsettled issue which requires a hearing, with proper notice, in my submission, in order to be fair.

And yes, in theory it could be scheduled so that the entirely settled issues happen in the morning and a hearing on the partially settled issues, which are in fact unsettled issues, be heard in the afternoon, but I think the present procedural order is not entirely clear on that score.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  I understand better now.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, all right.  Let's suggest that we proceed like this.  I am looking at the procedural order, and it does say in paragraph 7 that the oral hearing in this proceeding will begin on Monday, February 13th.

So as it does say that, and it says that today's proceeding is to review the settlement proposal,  I suppose it's a reasonable -- it's not an unreasonable assumption that we wouldn't actually necessarily hear evidence today.

Having said that, we have heard the submissions on the severability issue.  So I would like to or we would like to invite parties to respond to that issue, and we would like to hear the two other unsettled issues, for which I don't think any evidence is required.  So I would like to hear argument, and probably Union and Pollution Probe and, I guess, CME are the only parties who weren't here yesterday when we dealt with the –- oh, yes, that's right, Mr. Elson was here.  I'm sorry.

So there were only a couple of parties who weren't here yesterday to argue that particular -- the issue about the incentive.

But let's hear those, and let's hear the responses to the severability issue.  And I think we should deal with the severability issue first, and then we'll come back after lunch and deal with the other two, which -- well, we'll see how the time goes.

Now, in terms of procedure --


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, before you get there.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  I wonder if I might leave with the Panel a question.  And I'm digesting this as well as everyone else and you are, but if we're not going to have any substantive discussion of the -- what have been termed the partially settled issues until the 13th, it's unclear to me whether on the 13th we will be reviewing those issues from the partially settled versus Pollution Probe perspective, or ab initio.

And I'm not asking for direction at the present, but it is an issue we should probably deal with before we adjourn today.

They are different arguments.  There would be different evidence.  And are we to prepare for one or the other or both?

MS. SPOEL:  We'll make sure that you know that before the 13th.

[Laughter]


MS. SPOEL:  I can't guarantee that we'll be able to give you an answer this afternoon, but we will make sure that it's quite clear to everybody before the 13th what the scope of the hearing on the 13th will be.

MR. MONDROW:  And if I might add a request for clarification at some point, that is, it seems to me that in the last few minutes Pollution Probe has raised, effectively, a different issue from severability, and indeed the Panel has picked up on this.

It is the notion of what a partially settled issue is, if anything.  And I'm not requesting an opportunity to make submissions on that at this point, but it seems to me parties may have a view on that, as well.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, I think that my reading -- now, and I'm speaking for myself here and maybe not the rest of the Panel -- but my reading of the settlement agreement would suggest that parties have taken a position on what a partially -- that certain parties have agreed to certain clauses and other parties have not, and that a partial settlement is one where some have not, and the ones who have, have agreed.

But I'm in your hands.

MR. MONDROW:  But the issue I'm raising is not the fact that parties have agreed that there's something called a partially settled issue.  It is the rights and obligations flowing to a party that has been -- that has joined a partial settlement.

The guidelines seem to me to be clear.  Mr. Klippenstein, on behalf of his client, is taking a different position from, in my view, what the guidelines say.  And it seems to me that in order to know what it is we're supposed to address on the 13th, we need to understand the Hearing Panel's view on the rights and obligations of those parties in support of a partial settlement.

MR. SMITH:  If I may make just a brief submission on this point, the hearing -- the settlement guidelines contemplate partial settlements.  The settlement contemplates that a party who has reached an agreement will not take a position adverse to that.

So I don't think that there's any mystery to this, with respect, as to what's going to happen on the 13th.  And I think, to put some meat on an abstract bone, we have, as Mr. Klippenstein has said on several occasions, a relatively narrow issue.

His client has a well-defined right to adduce evidence and cross-examine.

We are well down the procedural path at this point.  Mr. Klippenstein's client has not adduced any evidence at this point.  Indeed, the only party other than the applicant who indicated at any point that they wanted to adduce evidence was GEC, which took the affirmative step of filing a letter and making a request to the Board.

So while my friend may want to leave open the possibility of adducing evidence -- and obviously that's up to the Board -- certainly in the four months in which this proceeding has been live, Pollution Probe has taken no steps, as I would have expected, to lead evidence and afford other parties an opportunity to ask interrogatories in respect of it.

When it comes to the issue of cross-examination, we can make Mr. Boulton available today or on the 13th, if that's the Board's decision, but I suspect we're going to be in for a relatively short hearing, at which point the Board can make a decision.  If this is the full hearing, we can be back the next day, and we're at it hammer and tong.

That's, I think, in terms of how this should unfold, exactly how it should unfold.

MS. SPOEL:  Let's hear the submission on the severability, and we'll deal with how we proceed forward in due course.
SUBMISSIONS ON SEVERABILITY

Submissions by Mr. Smith

MR. SMITH:  I have four very brief points that I'll make on that, if it's appropriate for me to start off.

With respect to the guidelines, I have nothing add to the comments that the Board made.  In my respectful submission, this is a common outcome and it's one that's expressly contemplated by the guidelines, that there will be both complete settlements and partial settlements.

And I disagree fundamentally with my friend's comment that this outcome is not contemplated.  It's both contemplated and a regular occurrence.

MS. CHAPLIN:  It's the combination.  You're saying the combination is also a regular occurrence?


MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  That we would have a non-severable proposal, which included and encompassed partially settled issues?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  Second, with respect to the issue of fairness, the fundamental principles of administrative law as to fairness are reflected in the Statutory Powers Procedure Act, and, in my submission, are picked up in the settlement guidelines.

There is a fundamental right to be heard.  There is nothing in the severability clause and nothing in the Board's settlement guidelines that detracts from that.  Indeed, it's expressly contemplated.

And while my friend made general arguments about fairness, there is no legal support offered for them, and, in my submission, there is a good reason for that.  There isn't any.

Third, with respect to the submission that the severability has a pernicious effect in that it will operate on the Board obviously -- in some way, obviously the Board is capable of making a decision on the merits.  It routinely does that.

And as somebody who acts for the applicant, I'm not --on a regular basis, I'm not pleading hardship, but it's not unusual for the applicant to have faced against it an array of intervenors.

So it's not a vote.  And Mr. Klippenstein's client is not at all disadvantaged that there are a number of people who happen to disagree with his client in that respect.

I've made the point about the case that he'll have an opportunity to make a full argument.  So there's nothing from a severability standpoint that affects that.

And, finally, I disagree fundamentally with the submission that Mr. Klippenstein makes that this will not have a chilling effect, if his submissions are accepted with respect to when a partial settlement is possible, on the overall tenor of negotiations.

And I pick up on the Board's comments that I believe that particularly in the DSM context, where it's apparent that there are many different moving parts, the parties need the flexibility of being able to present to the Board what is a package deal.

So those are my submissions on the issue.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Smith, just a follow-up.  So I understand you've made the point in response to the argument that an individual party might be singled out and have to face a broad array of parties aligned against them, and that that may introduce some unfairness.  And you're saying that doesn't present any disadvantage.

What about the -- I believe the other effect that was identified?  Would the Board be less likely to not accept - too many negatives there - to not accept a portion of a settlement, knowing that it may put the entire settlement in jeopardy?

MR. SMITH:  No, I disagree with that fundamentally.  I do not think that that is a legal concern, and I don't think that it's a practical concern.

We did not have a settlement until Friday.  Until Friday of last week the expectation was we would be sitting for a multi-day hearing.  That would have been the Board's expectation.  The Board's expectation is, when an application is commenced, it's going to be heard on its merits by oral hearing or written hearing.

And the fact that a party may disagree and the consequence of disagreement is that the Board has to do what it already thought it was going to have to do, in my submission, does not amount to unfairness, practically or legally.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Other parties wish to comment.  We'll just maybe go around the room.  Mr. Poch, do you have anything?  Mr. DeRose?
Submissions by Mr. DeRose

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  A few points, and if it's permissive from the Panel's perspective, I would also address the two unsettled issues, because it's going to take about four sentences at the end of my submissions.  So I can speed up the whole process, at least from CME, as someone who wasn't here yesterday.

MS. SPOEL:  That's fine.

MR. DeROSE:  In terms of the non-severability clause, a few comments.  The first is this.  My friend Mr. Klippenstein made the comment that non-severability clauses will become more common if you find against him.

I will admit I've only been doing this for about a decade, not the 22 years that Mr. Klippenstein referred to.  I cannot think of one settlement agreement that has not contained a severability clause.  And, to be blunt, if there are out there settlement agreements that did not contain non-severability clauses, which I signed, it was an error on my part.

These are standard.  They are contemplated in the guidelines, as has been pointed out, and they are important.  And the reason that they are important is this.

Settlement agreements are achieved through compromise.  It's a give and take.  And the purpose of settlement agreements is to achieve balance, and the balance comes -- there's a balance between utilities' shareholder interests and ratepayer interests.  There is a balance between various ratepayer interests, residential, commercial, industrial.

And when it comes to DSM, there's also a balance between what I would call environmental or conservation interests and utility interests and the various ratepayer interests.  And so it's not just a teeter-totter.  It's like a Rubik's cube.  Every time you turn one way, things move on the other side.

And so that balance is very important, and it's also consistent with the objectives that the Board is provided for in the OEB Act.  Your objectives, one objective is to protect ratepayer interests with respect to price, and you also have an objective to promote conservation.  And so there is a balancing.

And so what I submit is that what Pollution Probe is certainly indirectly, perhaps directly, inviting you to do is to take a total settlement agreement and parse it down and start looking at it issue by issue.  And, in fact, what they're actually asking you to do is only to take three select issues and dissect those.

And I would submit to you that when you have a total package that is negotiated on an issue-by-issue basis, if you were to look at every issue, there would be imbalance.  There is not one issue in the settlement agreement that you could say is completely balanced between every ratepayer interest, every utility interest, every conservation/ environmental group's interest.  Every issue has slight imbalance in it.  But all of the parties except Pollution Probe have determined that the overall balance is acceptable.

And so when you take a single issue, it goes right to the integrity of the settlement process, because if you take away the ability of the parties to try and negotiate very complex cases by using all of the issues as a package, you will force us to actually go issue by issue in saying, Does anyone disagree with this issue?  And someone will put up their hand.  And unless everyone else can convince them that they're wrong, there will never be a settlement.   Settlement is achieved by gives and takes.

And I submit to you that what Pollution Probe is trying to do here, if you go issue by issue, is they're trying to take those issues that they agree with, the takes, but they want the ability to also argue the gives.

I mean, to put it another way, they want their cake and eat it, too.  And that's improper.

And so I submit two conclusions based on that.  One, I urge the Board not to accept Pollution Probe's argument with respect to the procedural unfairness or alleged procedural unfairness of a non-severability clause.  They are essential to the integrity of this Board's settlement process.

But, secondly, if you are persuaded, my alternative submission is this.  Certainly no party in this room -- well, certainly CME did not contemplate that there was a possibility that the non-severability clause could be severed from the agreement.  And so if you do find -- and I urge you not to, but if you do find that Mr. Klippenstein's argument with respect to non-severability is somehow persuasive, that the parties -- I would submit it would be inappropriate to hold the parties to those issues that they have shown to be settled.

I submit -- unlike what my friend has suggested that you have these three options, I submit you don't have three options.  You have two options.

One option is to reject the settlement agreement, and one option is to accept the settlement agreement.  And as the Vice Chair has indicated, the Board has done this before.  You have rejected certain clauses and sent the parties out, and sometimes the parties can accept it and sometimes they can't.  And where parties can't accept it, it goes to hearing.

In terms of -- two final points, and it's this.

On the global non-severable settlement somehow violating procedural fairness or natural justice, natural justice and procedural fairness demand the ability to be heard.

And Pollution Probe has that ability to be heard.  It could have been heard today.  They could have cross-examined today.  We're now going to do it on the 13th.  They are having the ability to be heard on this issue.  There is no evidence that they are being prevented from putting before you.  They can fully make their argument to you.  There is no violation of procedural justice.

And on the final point, I would just submit -- and this goes along with what Mr. Smith has said, but to handcuff parties by not allowing issues to be interrelated is bad regulatory precedent.  It will have an unbelievably chilling effect on settlements.

So I urge you to wade carefully.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But Mr. DeRose, I think Pollution Probe's position is that that's only in the instance where they're making -- I don't think Pollution Probe is making that argument in the context of where all issues have been settled.

MR. DeROSE:  Fair enough, but what happens is, if you take the argument – well, I agree with you, and Pollution Probe is certainly -- if the parties had complete settlement on every single issue, there would be no problem.

That is often not achieved.  We do see, more often than not, that there will be some partially settled issues.

Secondly, we sometimes will be able to have fully settled issues except for one or two or three issues that remain unsettled, and we've seen this in this case, the two unsettled issues that were dealt with, the same thing in Enbridge yesterday.

Sometimes that can be done.

The issue which we're tackling in this case is:  What happens when a total settlement or an almost comprehensive settlement can be achieved, except for one party or two parties or three parties?

And Mr. Klippenstein's isolation of the complete settled issues from the partially settled issues I think is a bit artificial, because to suggest that, well, the Board could accept all the complete settled issues and then just proceed on the partially settled issues is, in my submission, not realistic.

So those are our submissions on the non-severability clause.

On the two unsettled issues, Mr. Shepherd made submissions yesterday, and as he indicated on the record, he had talked to me about those and we were adopting them in advance.

I don't need to reiterate it, only to say this:  Certainly our understanding of these two issues is that the question that this Panel has to address in both cases is not whether one position is better than the other; it's to look at the guidelines, and to say:  What is the ambiguity that has been identified by the parties in the guidelines?  How should that be interpreted?

So I submit it's not an issue of knowing -- that the incentive should be greater or should not be greater; it's:  What is the meaning of the guidelines?

And from my client's perspective, whatever the meaning of the guidelines is should be what this Board decides.

Subject to any questions, those are my submissions.

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I took it that we were going to actually address those issues later, so that's why I said no comment, so I just --


MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, the reason I went ahead is that if these are the only two issues that we're dealing with today, I was actually going to ask permission that I could head on my way back home, with the Board's permission.

The one last point that -- so first of all, I am asking for permission to leave after lunch, if that is fine.

MS. SPOEL:  I assumed, Mr. DeRose, that that was why you wanted to address those two.

And Mr. Poch, how about we let you go?  If you want to add anything beyond what you said yesterday on the other issues, we'll let you go first, after we've -- but let's continue on and deal with --


MR. POCH:  That's fine, Madam Chair.  I'm in the same position as Mr. DeRose.  I'm happy to get out of here, but I'm in your hands.

MS. SPOEL:  I understand that.  Let's just continue on and deal with the severability issue, and...

MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry if I made it more difficult than it should have been.

The last point is this, and it's -- I appreciate this Panel will deal with it, I assume, in a procedural order, but again, if I can ask that the Panel please do turn its mind to the fact that now that it's what I would deem a settlement agreement issue -- day one of the hearing that is normally a week and a half before an actual hearing is being delayed until the 13th -- if you could please turn your mind to whether there may have to be an additional delay.

And I say that in response to Mr. Smith's comment that look, we can do it on the 13th, and if the settlement agreement is not accepted, we can go to a full hearing the very next day or that afternoon on the 13th.

From my client's perspective, I don't think my client would greatly appreciate the notion that I would have to prepare for a hearing on the contingency that this Panel may not accept the settlement agreement.

I think certainly it would be prudent, from a cost perspective, if that was addressed in the procedural order.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd?
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, Mr. DeRose has said most of the things I was going to say, so I'll be brief.  I have, I think, three things to say.

The first thing is that I think the term "partial settlement" is actually a bit of a misnomer.  I think what you are presented with today is a complete settlement on all the issues, except two that nobody has agreed to, the ones that have just been alluded to.  You have a complete settlement on all the issues, in which one party refuses to agree to it.

Now, that party has said to you:  We agree with a lot of things in that settlement, we just don't agree with all of it.

But because that settlement was built by the agreeing parties as -- as Mr. DeRose says -- a Rubik's cube, that we got all the colours right, we're not willing - and I can tell you I already have instructions from my client - we're not willing to present to you that -- with an attached line item veto that says take as much of this as you would like.

Our view is we balanced a bunch of things out, and the large industrial component of that and the DSMVA limits in that, are integral parts of the balance that we engaged in.

And so my client is satisfied with the agreement that all of the parties but one have presented to you as a complete settlement, on the basis that it fits together.

My client is not satisfied with that agreement if only part of it is implemented.

And so I guess what I'm saying here is that Mr. Klippenstein's argument that one of your options is to send the parties away to decide whether they want to have only part of the agreement accepted, I can tell you right now I already have instructions on that.

And I invite my friends to advise you whether they have instructions yet or not.

And my instructions are:  There is no deal.  I mean, we might negotiate a brand new deal, but it isn't:  Take these things out and the rest is okay.  That's not the case.

The second comment I would make, I guess, is --


MS. CONBOY:  Excuse me, Mr. Shepherd.  Is that a --there is no deal, is that specific to this proceeding before us, or is that a general position that your client would take, that you take the package or we've got to go and renegotiate a new deal?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That was the next thing I was going to come to, in fact.

MS. CONBOY:  Sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is that the Board will be aware that my client in particular has been involved in many, many settlement agreements.  We may have signed more settlement agreements than anybody else in the room because of the nature of our involvement in the process.

And in fact, from time to time, we've been an outlier, and it wasn't always pretty.  So we know Mr. Klippenstein's position.

The non-severability clause is included, as Mr. DeRose said, in almost every agreement.  Sometimes that non-severability clause is really very overriding.  So, like here, the balancing and the trade-offs were very difficult.  It took us two weeks.

In other agreements, while there is a non-severability clause, we all -- all the parties understand that if the Board didn't like this part or this part or this part of the agreement, we might still be okay with the rest of it.

It changes from time to time, from agreement to agreement.

So I do think, however, that if the Board simply said, You can't have non-severability clauses, we want a line item veto, period, and you have to present us an agreement that we can take all or part of, I would be very surprised if we ever signed a settlement agreement again.

And I think that's true of most of my colleagues, as well, because then you're saying to us, We are not going to allow you to make trade-offs and compromises.  If you do that, we get to unravel those and still require you to be bound by the rest of it.

That's not really how agreements in the commercial world or done, and that's not how agreements in this context can be done.

And so my final comment is this.  Mr. Klippenstein talked about outliers as if it were a pejorative.  In fact, and without talking specifically about this particular proceeding - I'm talking about my experience in ADRs generally - in ADRs, the fact that somebody can be an outlier is a very powerful force.  It pushes agreements in directions that they need to be pushed in, because people who feel strongly about things, in effect, can hold everybody else up to a bit of ransom.

This is a good thing.  This is how negotiations get to highly principled and well-balanced results.

And so I don't think that it's bad to be an outlier, as long as you're not always the outlier, of course.  And, in fact, this process that Mr. Klippenstein is going through right now is exactly the sort of thing that makes good agreements, the fact that they can be tested if somebody, in principle, disagrees.

Those are our submissions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Gardner, do you have anything to add?
Submissions by Mr. Gardner

MR. GARDNER:  Yes, very briefly.  I think, in general, LIEN supports what's been said so far.  We certainly adopt the submissions of Mr. Smith.

LIEN's position is that we agree with the settlement agreement as proposed, obviously.  I don't have instructions to comment on whether we would support certain issues or not.  That would depend on what comes out of a renegotiation.

So quite simply put, we're happy with the settlement agreement as it is proposed.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Beauchamp.
Submissions by Mr. Beauchamp

MR. BEAUCHAMP:  From APPrO's position, we actually find that Mr. DeRose summed it up very well with respect to the non-severability issue, and we would endorse those agreements -- or those arguments.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Mondrow?
Submissions by Mr. Mondrow

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will repeat what my friends have said, and I'll do so because I think it's important, particularly important on this topic, that the hearing Panel understand how strongly parties, including IGUA, feel about the arguments that have been made.  I will be brief.

MS. SPOEL:  If you're actually going to repeat it --


MR. MONDROW:  Well, no, I didn't mean I would literally repeat every word.  I will rephrase it.

MS. SPOEL:  We can read it again.  If you want to highlight certain aspects, but briefly, that would be fine.  I think we understand the depth of feeling.

MR. MONDROW:  Pollution Probe says it's unfair to have to support before the Board its own view on an issue as it's entitled to do under the rules and the guidelines.

There's no unfairness at all, in our submission, and, indeed, with all respect to Mr. Klippenstein, for whom I have a tremendous amount of respect, I think Pollution Probe's position before you today is completely disingenuous.

IGUA has been an outlier, as Mr. Shepherd's client has been, and I should add that we have been the recipient of habitual deference and patience in settlement discussions.

The parties before this Board conduct themselves to a very high level of civility, and the Board need not be concerned about that, at all.

The Board has always conducted its processes openly and fairly, and indeed has required that Pollution Probe and IGUA and others be funded to present their case before the Board.  There can be no question but that the Board provides parties with every opportunity of fairness and openness.

I agree with Mr. Shepherd in respect of the issue of leverage.  The risk of bringing down an entire agreement provides a tremendous amount of leverage in settlement discussions, and Mr. Klippenstein's client has been the recipient of that advantage, as has IGUA in the past in some instances.

By the way, it is Pollution Probe that is an outlier on this issue, and whether that's brought to the Board by way of a full hearing or a settlement agreement, that is, in fact, the case.

And Mr. Klippenstein's client has every opportunity to illustrate to you why that is, whether under the current framework or under the framework that Pollution Probe urges you to adopt, which would be a complete departure from the way the practice currently is before the Board.

It's precisely the balancing of interests not only within issues, but across issues, that the Board, this Board, and regulators across the continent rely on in accepting settlement agreements as evidencing just and reasonable results that are in the public interest.

And I won't take you to it, but in my friend's package, in the EB-2007-0606 case there are transcript excerpts here.  And at page 109 of the transcript, which is page 64 of my friend's package, the chair of that panel, the Vice Chair of the Board, in fact makes that very point in lines 17 through 25.

Pollution Probe seems to be asking the Board to rewrite this settlement agreement as to a term that the parties have expressly told you is essential to them and essential to their agreement with the settlement that's been put before you.

I would submit, with respect, the Board has no jurisdiction, nor does it have a place in rewriting this agreement.  Either accept it or reject it.  Hear Pollution Probe's arguments on why you should reject it, both as to the severability clause which we are now engaged and as to the particular issues it objects to.  There is nothing unfair about this structure at all.

Thank you very much.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. MacIntosh, do you have anything to add?
Submissions by Mr. MacIntosh

MR. MacINTOSH:  Madam Chair, Energy Probe supports the comments of IGUA.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar?

Submissions by Mr. Millar

MR. MILLAR:  If I may, Madam Chair, very briefly.  I think you've heard quite a bit about this, and I don't want to belabour anything.

I don't personally attend the settlement agreements myself, usually, so I don't have the insight that some of my friends have.  So I'll speak only to the issue of procedural fairness.

Mr. Klippenstein has suggested that, I guess, the nature of a severability clauses, especially where there is what has been called an outlier, may result in some procedural unfairness.  Frankly, I don't see it.  I don't see -- and I haven't heard him raise any specific reason why there is specific procedural unfairness.

As Mr. Smith has indicated, the rules around procedural fairness are largely codified in the Statutory Powers Procedure Act.  There would also be common law that interprets some of those provisions.  But at its highest level, what is required for a procedurally fair hearing -- or depending on how you categorize them, four things.

You need notice.  There's no question that there has been notice in this proceeding.  A party is entitled to know the case to be met, the case it has to make before the tribunal.  Often that's dealt with through discovery.  Here we've all had interrogatories, and the Board is making provision for additional cross-examination on these issues that Mr. Klippenstein objects to.

There is the related right to be heard; in other words, the right to present your own evidence and to make submissions to the Panel.  That is already contemplated in rule 32.04, and again picked up in the practice direction on settlement guidelines.  And the Board has already indicated it's prepared to follow through on that on the 13th.

And then, finally, you are entitled to an impartial decision-maker.  And I haven't heard any real suggestion here that we have anything other than that.  So --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Millar, I thought that was exactly his point.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I'm going to get to that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  There was a suggestion, and maybe this will be clarified - I certainly don't think he meant to say biassed or anything like that - but that somehow this juggernaut facing you of a complete settlement, take it or live it, places you in I guess what I would characterize as an unfair position.

And I don't think that's the case.  I think that's sort of what he's arguing, that it's too difficult for you -- places you in an unfair position, where you have to stand up and say, Well, even though we only have a problem with this tiny piece, we have to kill the whole agreement to get to it, so that that places you in an unfair position somehow.

I don't think that's the case.  I don't think any party disagrees that you have complete discretion to reject the full settlement agreement.  That's entirely within your right.

And whereas it may be unfortunate if something like that were to happen, by no means is that an unfair situation.  That's in fact your job.  We hold hearings all the time.  Half of my professional life has been spent sitting in this chair going through these very hearings.

So the Board is not reluctant to hold hearings, and, indeed, as we've seen, the Board is not reluctant to tell parties where it has some difficulties with settlement agreements.  That happens from time to time.

So, again, Mr. Klippenstein may be in, I suppose, a difficult position, in the sense that it's always difficult if you're the only party disagreeing with something.  It is not unfair.  It's not legally or procedurally unfair, nor is the Board in an unfair position.

Your job is to consider whether or not the settlement package, taken as a whole, produces a just result, and you'll do that.  That's why you're here.  And if we have to hold a full hearing, I assume that's what will happen.

One final comment.  A few folks have discussed what will happen on the 13th.  My view -- and others may disagree, I suppose -- is that the 13th would be held for what's contemplated in 32.04; in other words, that Pollution Probe would have its opportunity to either cross-examine, potentially call witnesses, but with the view of arguing before you why you should not accept the settlement agreement, in particular the parts that they don't like, but I think they recognize that would lead to an end to the full settlement.

I don't see it as anything other than that.  You would be faced with a decision at the end of the day, whether you either accept the settlement agreement or you don't.  If you don't, we'd go to a hearing on the full thing, absent some other agreement by the parties; and if you do accept it, there's just the two unsettled issues left, which may be dealt with today.

Subject to any questions, those are my comments.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Mr. Klippenstein, do you have any brief reply, any reply?  Can you give an indication of how long you think you'll be?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  On reply?  Five and a half minutes.

MS. SPOEL:  Fine.  Thank you.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Starting now?

[Laughter]


MS. SPOEL:  Well, I'm just thinking about when the Panel might need to take a break, that's all.
Further Submissions by Mr. Klippenstein

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, there have been many parties who have emphasized again and again and again, focussing on the non-severability clause and how important and critical that is.  I just want to quote a number of what people have said.

Mr. DeRose said that a non-severability clause is essential to the integrity of the process, and various parties agreed with Mr. DeRose's comments.  He said that to remove the non-severability clause would have, quote, "an unbelievably chilling effect."  He said that the settlement is -- well, Mr. Shepherd, sorry, said and repeated several times that he has already got instructions that if the non-severability clause is not respected, that is not good enough.  And various other parties agreed with that.

In my submission, this shows the problem I referred to, in the sense that it is now apparently clear that if the Board accepts Pollution Probe's point on industrial DSM, we will have a full hearing.  And I think that's unnecessarily extreme, you know.

The result is, both for me or any future party, and for the Board, of this kind of position, of holding a non-severability clause as sacred, is that if a party takes a principled position on one point, they have to bear the weight of causing a full hearing.

And in my submission, that can't be right.  That's too extreme.  We have to have better answers than that.

And I respectfully suggest that things won't work that way, that if there are ways to -- I think there should be less use of non-severability clauses, because it goes nuclear, and we've just seen it.  Already we've said -- we've heard Mr. Shepherd say he has instructions.  If that clause goes, it's not good enough.  And Mr. DeRose's comments, and repeated by many others.

And in my submission, that's not a good process.  You know, Pollution Probe now has to take a position, and if the Board accepts our position, then we have a full hearing, because then everything else unravels for a relatively small issue, which nevertheless Pollution Probe firmly believes is in the public interest.

And that can't be right, is my submission.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But why is it not right?  I mean, yes, that might be the outcome.  And so I guess I'm struggling with why that's -- yes, that might be the outcome.  Everybody understands those rules going into it, and so be it.  That's what we do; we have a full hearing.

I mean, you sort of seem to be almost sort of suggesting, well -- what you seem to be suggesting is that that's not how Pollution Probe thinks it would need to be resolved, but if that is how all the other parties agree it needs to be resolved, by going to full hearing, well, then, isn't that just the logical outcome?  And we would take next step and we would have the hearing?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I agree with that, and I don't mind doing hearings.

I don't think it needs to go that far.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, yes, I take your point, that your party believes it's unnecessary in these circumstances.  The other parties are taking a position, to varying and lesser degrees, that it would be necessary, as is their right.

So is there anything more than that to it?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That doesn't make me feel good.

[Laughter]


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, no.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, Mr. Klippenstein, but we're not here necessarily to feel good.

[Laughter]


MS. CHAPLIN:  Maybe I could ask you to just -- I would like you to comment on one aspect of Mr. Shepherd's argument, where he -- I believe what he was suggesting is we could actually look at this proposed settlement in a different way, and actually look at it as a complete settlement, with one party who is not a settled party, and would clearly be coming under 32.04, but -- in this case, Pollution Probe, but in this case it's with respect to three of the issues, not the other 27.

And isn't that exactly what we contemplated?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  In my respectful submission, that minimizes, that trivializes the hearing process and the role of the Board.

If it's not settled because one party has not settled, then it's not settled, then that issue is not settled.

MS. CHAPLIN:  No, no, no.  No, sorry.  I would like you to respond quite clearly to the scenario as I understand it had been described, or as suggested by Mr. Shepherd, which is:  What has been put before us today is a complete settlement on all the issues, for which there is one party, Pollution Probe, who is not a settling party, and in fact perhaps would fall directly under this provision, as a party who does not agree with the settlement of an issue, and is entitled to all of the rights.  And those are what are set out here.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  With the greatest of respect, I think that fundamentally mis-describes it.  It is not a complete settlement.  It simply is not a full, complete settlement.  And even calling it that --


MS. CHAPLIN:  No, I mean a complete settlement with a party who -- a complete settlement amongst a group of parties, with a party that has not agreed, which is what our guidelines contemplate and set out the procedural rights of that party.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That is accurate, but it's a critical addition.  It's a complete settlement among a group of parties.

And the rights of the other parties to have their position completely, fairly heard, without being prejudiced by the actions of the other people, is critical.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.  And so, as it suggests, the fact that there would be this non-severability clause is what you believe introduces the prejudice and the unfairness and the risk of an impartial --


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  -- of not having an impartial decision?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Because it adds an entirely new factor to the hearing process, one that is not normally part of the hearing process.  It gives certain parties leverage.  It is not normally part of the hearing process, in terms of having a decision made on the evidence.

There is a --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, in what way is it not part of the hearing process?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Because the hearing process treats all parties equally.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And the non-severability clause has certain parties saying that:  We can change the whole hearing process by taking off a bunch of issues and leaving only that one party to deal with that.  And instead of having various parties presenting their point of view, it says -- the non-severability group says:  We can change the whole hearing process by offering you this, in which case we will delete part of the hearing.

MS. CONBOY:  Does that impact, though, the other parties' ability to recognize the fact that they do have trade-offs?  And so they have made that conscious decision going in, that there is going to be some give and take, and if you're going to have a non-severability clause, then doesn't that undermine or take away their ability to have that give and take, because it may be that what they've given will get pulled out or what they've taken has been pulled out?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I would respectfully say no, because a non-severability clause doesn't need to be 100 percent of everything.  It could be a non-severability clause except for Pollution Probe's issues.

And this -- you know, so that makes the issue manageable.  People could say, during the course of negotiations, you know, Pollution Probe is an outlier, but the rest of us will agree on a package, and then it will stand -- and it will stand, and we'll live with the consequences of that one issue.

So a non-severability clause can be tailored to various parts of the agreement.  It doesn't have to be absolutely everything.  The parties can agree, We will all agree this is a good settlement, and so we'll make it non-severable, but we can let the one party go to the hearing and we will live with the consequences.  We can manage that.

So we would like to have this agreement.  They go to a hearing and lose.  Great.  We can also have -- it's not as good but we can also have, We agree to this non-severably.  We go to a hearing.  That party wins.  We can factor that risk in.

And so I think it's manageable without having this extremeness.  And it's not 100 percent easy, but the parties can say, We've all agreed on something that's pretty good, and the risk from a single-issue hearing, win or lose, is manageable.

I'm totally out of time.

MS. SPOEL:  All right.  I suggest we still have the other two small issues to deal with.  The Panel would like to take a short break.  I wonder if we could just take maybe half an hour so people can maybe get a bite to eat or something, if they want, and then we can come back and deal with them.  Is that acceptable to the parties?

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  That's very helpful, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  All right.  So why don't we return at 1:15?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, if I may be excused and Mr. Elson step into my chair?

MS. SPOEL:  Oh, certainly.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:41 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:21 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Before we begin, I would just like to take the opportunity to correct a misunderstanding that may have occurred as a result of a comment that I made yesterday in the context of the interpretation of the guidelines.


What I said, which shows up at page 61 of the transcript, is the following.  As all parties know, the DSM guidelines is a Board policy document -- oh, I'm sorry.  That's the correction.


What I said was:

"...I think that the issue before us is the interpretation of the guidelines, and if we determine that the guidelines allow for the increase, then we don't really have any discretion as to whether to award it.  And if we determine the guidelines don't allow for the increase, then there is really no discretion.  So the issue is really, I think, the interpretation of the guidelines."


Of course, that is not correct.  As you know, the DSM guidelines are a Board policy document, and it provides guidance to the parties as to how the Board intends to review certain matters.  However, it's not binding on the Panel, and no policy is.


So just to make sure it's understood that we are not required to slavishly follow the policy.  We do have a discretion to decide not to apply it.  But in the meantime, we would like to hear submissions from those who didn't make any yesterday on the issue of what the guidelines -- what we should interpret the guidelines do say about the incentive mechanism, and also in this case the question of the increase for the inflation factor.


And Mr. Smith, I'm going to allow Mr. Poch -- well, Mr. Poch to go first, if that's all right with you.


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Certainly.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Since he didn't make submissions on the inflation issue yesterday.


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry, I will just interrupt, if I could, for a minute.  I appreciate you don't want repetition from yesterday.


MS. SPOEL:  No, because we do have the transcript from yesterday.  So I think anything that was said yesterday can be assumed to be imported into today's proceeding.


MR. MONDROW:  I appreciate that.  I'm in a bit of a different position, in the sense that I have a different thought on the matter.


And I will obviously cede in the order, but I will not repeat myself.  I may seek the opportunity just to briefly say something.


MS. SPOEL:  If you have something new or different than you said yesterday, then we'd be happy to hear it.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Poch?
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Submissions by Mr. Poch

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I appreciate being allowed to proceed first.


On the matter discussed yesterday and that is being discussed today with respect to effect on the incentive cap of 10 percent, a potential 10 percent budget for low-income, the only thing I would add is in both agreements, all parties have agreed to let the LDC off the hook if they don't get that, if the Board doesn't approve that interpretation.  And I think that speaks volumes for everybody's understanding and the logical understanding of what the impact of the linkage between the two is.  You can't really expect them to be able to go out and do that extra effort unless there's extra reward.


On the other matter that's before you today, which is simply whether inflation applies to the budget for 2012, all I'd like to do is direct you to the DSM guidelines at page 25.


Under "Budgets" the Board first quotes its earlier letter, where it states:

"The Board finds it appropriate at this time to limit ratepayer funding without the ratepayer-funded portion of natural gas budgets to their current levels."


So that was speaking to 2011 levels, and then goes on to say -- to quote what the 2011 budgets were, and notes:

"The Board has expressed the view that the 2011 approved budgets should remain in effect for the 2012-'14 DSM plan, subject to section 8.3.  The budget should be escalated annually."


And it explains how.


So the Guideline is, I think, quite clear.  It doesn't distinguish between 2012 and the other years, there, where it speaks of applying inflation.  The base is clearly defined as 2011, not a 2012 number.  The sentiment expressed earlier in the Board's letter to hold budgets at current levels is entirely consistent with what the Board does routinely, which thinks of current levels as real dollars; that is, inflation is allowed.  And that's -- there's certainly no dispute that that's -- amongst anybody, I believe, that that's what's intended for 2013 and 2014.  So I can't see any logical distinction, nor any distinction made in the wording of the guidelines, that would suggest it's not available to 2012, as well.


And those are my submissions.


And I should just add Mr. Brett asked me to indicate that on this matter, BOMA takes the same position.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.


MR. POCH:  And with your permission, I will take my leave and catch my plane.  Thank you very much.


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Smith, since Union was not here yesterday, perhaps you would like to proceed next.


MR. SMITH:  Certainly.  Thank you.
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MR. SMITH:  Members of the Board, with respect to the issue of inflation, I too would point the Board to page 25.  And I adopt entirely the submissions of Mr. Poch, which, in my submission, capture the point directly.  There's no reference in the paragraph he referred you to, to distinguish between 2012, '13 and '14.  It's an annual escalation.  And of course if the Board's intention was to have budgets fixed at the 2011 level and then escalated by inflation, if the 2012 number is not, in fact, escalated, there will be, in fact, a decrease in real terms in the DSM dollars going in.


And in my submission, that could not have been the outcome that the Board intended.


Dealing with the issue of the incentive payment, at page 31, I've obviously had the benefit of reviewing the transcript, and I adopt the submissions made by Mr. O'Leary and others who are of the view that the Board's guidelines contemplate an increase in the cap, once the low-income adjustment is accounted for.


And I would just make the following additional submission.  If the Board could take a look at page 31, in my submission, when the Board intended numbers to be in a direction, either up or down, the Board in the guidelines has used words to that effect.


And so for example, in the second paragraph, what is referred to as an "escalation" for inflation, conversely, if you look at the next paragraph, what's referred to is a "deviation," which, in my submission, is a neutral term, up or down, and a "scaling accordingly," which is also –- "scale" is also a neutral term.


So in my submission, the Board turned its mind to this issue when it was directional; it used directional language.  And when it was bidirectional.  It used neutral language, and in my submission, no particular weight should be placed on the footnote, which, as the opening words indicate, is simply a for-instance.


Those are my submissions.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.


Is there anybody else who -- Mr. Shepherd, did you want to add something to with respect to the inflation aspect of it?  I think you made submissions -- or do you have anything to add beyond what you said yesterday?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I do.


The inflation issue, of course, wasn't up yesterday.


MS. SPOEL:  Yes.  No, I knew that.
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MR. SHEPHERD:  I will respond to Mr. Poch's comment that apparently we've accepted that the incentive must go up because we have agreed to an adjustment mechanism, and that certainly isn't the agreement that I signed.


With respect to the inflation item, I'm not going to parse the words; I'm just going to make two brief comments.


The first is that it's quite clear that the incentive inflates only for 2013 and 2014, and that's, in fact, expressed on page 31.  It would be strange if the incentive inflates for those two years but the budget inflates for three years.  And certainly that was not my understanding when I read it the first time and when I've subsequently read it.


My second comment is that the Board has before it yesterday the Enbridge case, in which Enbridge and its parties have presented to you what they believe is the maximum allowed budget for Enbridge, which does not include inflation for 2012.  And that has two aspects to it.


Obviously, there's at least some ambiguity, if Enbridge didn't think they had an additional 2.87 percent.


But the more important thing is I think if the Board makes a determination that Union is entitled to an additional 2.87 percent this year, Enbridge then next year, when they come back for year 2, in my view, should then be entitled to two years of inflation.  That would necessarily follow.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, I don't think what Enbridge did or didn't apply for, or what the parties did or didn't agree to in the Enbridge case is binding in any way on Union, and I don't think we want to argue in this hearing what Enbridge might do next year if we make a finding.

It wasn't before us in the Enbridge case, and I don't think it's relevant to our determination today with respect to Union's application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not suggesting for a minute that it's in any way binding on you, nor am I suggesting that the Board would in any way comment on what the implications are for Enbridge.

MS. SPOEL:  Then why are you telling us about it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  For two reasons.  First of all, the fact that Enbridge and the parties to its settlement agreement assumed that the --


MS. SPOEL:  But we weren't there.  We weren't in the room, Mr. Shepherd.  I don't think what they did or didn't think -- I don't think what Enbridge or other parties did or didn't think is in any way relevant to what we are doing today.  And Enbridge is not here to comment on it.  I don't think that we want to hear what the implications might be for Enbridge in the future.

We've read the settlement agreement.  We know what Enbridge did or didn't put before us.  But how it might play out in the future, we're talking about how shall we interpret the guideline.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what I'm saying, Madam Chair, is my friend has argued that what the guidelines say is obvious.  You have an agreement before you from yesterday which makes it pretty clear that it's not obvious, because they didn't see it the same way.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's all I'm saying.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are our submissions.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Elson, do you want to add anything beyond yesterday?
Submissions by Mr. Elson

MR. ELSON:  Nothing to add beyond yesterday in terms of the incentive cap.  In terms of the inflation issue, Pollution Probe's position, we would adopt what Mr. Smith and what Mr. Poch had said this morning.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Gardner, did you have something to add?
Submissions by Mr. Gardner

MR. GARDNER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Very little, except that just for the record, yesterday LIEN wasn't present, but Mr. Poch put forward our position as the same as his, and we also definitely adopt what VECC had to say yesterday.

Mr. Buonaguro had a very good analysis and breakdown of the incentive cap and how it should be interpreted.

And then as for the inflation issue, again, we adopt the sentiments and the arguments of Mr. Poch and Mr. Smith.

Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Beauchamp.
Submissions by Mr. Beauchamp

MR. BEAUCHAMP:  From the perspective of APPrO, they've guided me actually to take no position on these issues.  Just by virtue of the fact that the settlement agreement had asked the Board for direction on them, we didn't come up with any argument.  But that is their position, taking no position.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Mondrow.
Submissions by Mr. Mondrow

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

The reason I interjected earlier, and I wanted to add something, is I think with respect to all of my colleagues, we've all gone off the path a bit here.  The agreement was to seek the Board's direction on what the guidelines say.  We've all, including me yesterday on behalf of IGUA, made submissions about what the Board should have said.

You three Panellists were there when the Board made this policy.  This is not a situation, as in a court, where a court is interpreting decisions made by a legislature and trying to read into the words what was intended.

I think what the parties agreed was to ask you what the Board intended, and we should simply be doing that.  And I would urge the Board simply to tell us that.

What IGUA did not agree to was to make submissions before you about what the Board should have said, which I think is what people have been doing yesterday and what some have done today.  And that's not the agreement that IGUA thought we reached.

So I would simply ask that the Board advise us:  If it turned its collective mind to these issues, what it intended, and, if it didn't, to tell us that, and then we have a different issue before us, as parties, about what position to take.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, Mr. Mondrow, this Panel, the members of this Panel are members of the Board, and the Board -- it is a Board document.  We are not even a majority of the Board.  And so what we may or may not have thought, or what the Board as a whole collectively may or may not have thought it meant when it passed -- when it promulgated this document is really not up to us to say, and certainly it wouldn't be binding on the rest of the Board.

We would prefer to proceed as we have, which is to interpret the words of the document that are before us for the purposes of this hearing, and we welcome any assistance that you and any of the other parties can give us, of which we have received quite a bit so far, for which we are thankful.  Any assistance you might give us as to how we should read this document would be appreciated and appropriate.

MR. MONDROW:  I appreciate your guidance, Madam Chair.  With the greatest of respect, I don't agree with that formulation.  I take the point that you are a Panel and not the Board.  And it is an awkward request.  It perhaps should be a request submitted in writing to the Board to clarify, if they saw fit as a Board.

But what we agreed is to ask what the Board intended, not to try to persuade you what the Board intended.  And I appreciate your position.  I'm afraid I can't add much to IGUA's position, unless it's unclear to you.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SMITH:  If it is of assistance to Mr. Mondrow, I would just direct him, through you, Madam Chair, to page 9 of the settlement agreement, which provides that:
"...those Participating Parties have agreed that the Board should be asked to interpret the Guidelines with respect to this issue."

And that's all that's being done.  And of course the normal rules of interpretation for a written document provide that it shall be interpreted using the words of the document, the surrounding circumstances, and the subjective intention of a party who authors a document is not normally admissible in any event.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Mr. MacIntosh, do you have anything to add?

MR. MacINTOSH:  I have nothing to add to Mr. Mondrow's submissions, thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  No.  If you're looking for a specific response to Mr. Mondrow, I can provide that, but I'm not looking to do so, so I don't have any submissions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Smith, anything in reply?

MR. SMITH:  No reply.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  I think that concludes the matters for today.  We will get back to parties as quickly as possible with the next steps and decisions on the severability issue and these two other issues.

Mr. Klippenstein is not here anymore, Mr. Elson, but perhaps if Pollution Probe is intending to call evidence, it might be useful to provide notice to the parties in a very timely manner.

MR. ELSON:  Of course.

MS. SPOEL:  Because there may be requests for interrogatories and other -- I don't know, because I don't know what kind of evidence.  At a minimum, we would want a witness statement, and perhaps Mr. Millar could, or -- well, we'll work out some sort of procedure.  But I think that if Mr. Klippenstein is intending or if your client is intending to call evidence, parties should be notified very soon and with particulars, including a witness statement of the kind of evidence, and then we can determine how to proceed from there, perhaps by Monday, since that will be one week before the hearing.

If there are any other matters?

MR. SMITH:  Just with respect to the last point, members of the Board, I wonder if it would be appropriate for Pollution Probe, rather than have the right to adduce evidence, at this late stage, given that notice has not been provided and they have not adduced any evidence at the time when they ought to have, if they shouldn't be required to seek leave, if they intend to take that step.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Smith, the rules do provide specific -in rule 32, there are specific provisions that deal with a party who does not agree with some or all of a settlement agreement.  So I think that's our starting point at this stage, as opposed to evidence being filed with respect to your client's original application.

So that would be -- unless persuaded otherwise, that would be the way we would view it is that as a party that does not agree with some part of the agreement, Pollution Probe has specific rights, and they include calling evidence and cross-examining.

MR. SMITH:  I understand.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  So I think we'll afford them those rights.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you for that.  In terms of the time line, I don't think I can commit on behalf of Jack, for example, to Monday, but I can assure you that we will bring any evidence as soon as possible.

I anticipate we will cross-examine.  We may have some documents for cross-examination.  But beyond that, I'll have to speak to my client.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Elson, I understand that you haven't got instructions, and I wasn't seeking your client's agreement at this point.

I suggested that Monday would be good.  Obviously, if there are difficulties, the appropriate submissions can be made to the Board.  So I leave it up to you to get instructions from your client at the earliest possible opportunity, and to communicate them to the Board and the other parties.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 1:41 p.m.
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